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To inquire into and report on: 

That a select committee, to be known as the Select Committee on the Aboriginal Flag, be established to inquire into and 

report on current and former copyright and licensing arrangements for the Aboriginal flag design, with particular reference to:  

a. who benefits from payments for the use of the Aboriginal Flag design and the impact on Aboriginal organisations, 

Aboriginal communities and the broader Australian community of the current copyright and licensing arrangements;  

b. options available to the Government to enable the Aboriginal Flag design to be freely used by the Australian community, 

including:  

i. negotiated outcomes with licence and/or copyright holders:  

ii. the compulsory acquisition of licences and/or copyright,  

iii. ways to protect the rights and interests of the flag's legally recognised creator Mr Harold Thomas; and  

c. any other matters relevant to the enduring and fair use of the Aboriginal Flag design by the Aboriginal and Australian 

community. 
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DOUGLAS, Dr Josie, Senior Policy Officer, Aboriginal Peak Organisations Northern Territory 

Evidence was taken via teleconference—  

Committee met at 10:05 

CHAIR (Senator McCarthy):  I declare open this public hearing of the Senate Select Committee on the 

Aboriginal Flag. I acknowledge the Ngunawal and Ngambri people, the traditional custodians of the land on 

which we meet here in Canberra, as well as the traditional custodians of the lands from which senators and 

witnesses are participating remotely. I pay my respects to their elders past, present and emerging. 

The committee's proceedings today will follow the program as circulated. These public proceedings are being 

broadcast live via the web and in Parliament House. I remind witnesses that in giving evidence to the committee 

they are protected by parliamentary privilege. It is unlawful for anyone to threaten or disadvantage a witness on 

account of evidence given to a committee and such action may be treated by the Senate as a contempt. It is also a 

contempt to give false or misleading evidence to the committee. 

The committee prefers evidence to be given in public but, under the Senate's resolutions, witnesses have the 

right to request to be heard in confidence, described as being in camera. If you are a witness today and intend to 

request to give evidence in camera, please bring this to the attention of the secretariat as soon as possible. If a 

witness objects to answering a question, the witness should state the ground upon which the objection is taken and 

the committee will determine whether it will insist on an answer, having regard to the ground which is claimed. If 

the committee determines to insist on an answer, a witness may request that the answer be given in camera. Such 

a request may of course also be made at any other time. 

I welcome everyone here today. In particular I welcome the representative from the Aboriginal Peak 

Organisations Northern Territory. Thank you for taking the time to give evidence. Information about 

parliamentary privilege has been provided to you and is available from the secretariat. If you have an opening 

statement, you are welcome to provide it to the Senate committee inquiry. 

Dr Douglas:  Good morning, Chair and members of the committee. I'm here today representing APO NT. The 

Central Land Council, who I work for, is a member of Aboriginal Peak Organisations Northern Territory. The 

Central Land Council and, indeed, APO NT welcome this opportunity to present our views to the Senate Select 

Committee on the Aboriginal Flag. The Aboriginal flag has an important place in the CLC's history and, indeed, 

APO NT's history and role in representing Aboriginal people throughout Central Australia. This flag has 

particular importance in our region. One of the reasons for this is the fact that Mr Harold Thomas is a Luritja man 

and his design for the flag was in part inspired by his country. 

There are tensions between the rights and interests of Mr Thomas in the flag he created and the flag as a very 

important collective symbol for Aboriginal people's identity and history and for our activism in rights, justice and 

reconciliation. Flags, as we know, are highly potent symbols. As symbols of identity, nationhood, culture and 

heritage they evoke powerful emotions. The current concerns regarding the use of the Aboriginal flag bring these 

emotions sharply into focus. 

It is the view of APO NT that not only do the recent matters relating to the use of the flag bear upon copyright 

and licensing arrangements—and we acknowledge that this warrants considerable attention—but also the recent 

series of alleged breaches of copyright of the Aboriginal flag point to detailed ongoing concerns about the 

relationship between intellectual property right laws for individual artists or creators and Indigenous culture, 

heritage and identity. They also invoked moral and ethical issues and raise many challenging questions. One of 

these is how Australian Indigenous identity is represented to both Indigenous people and wider society. Another 

crucial question that the Aboriginal flag copyright issue raises is about rights and ownership. This latter question 

is at the heart of current matters surrounding the flag's status.  

APO NT situates the current concerns about the Aboriginal flag into the long history of misuse and 

misappropriation of Aboriginal art and design and implications for copyright law. Many facets of the Aboriginal 

flag in the nation's culture and society, including its critical role in Aboriginal history, identity, sports and art, 

have been writ large from recent events. There are tensions between ownership of the Aboriginal flag as vested in 

an individual and the very significant role the flag has for Aboriginal people collectively in activism and in our 

struggles and representations for identity rights and justice. I draw on these multiple roles that the flag has—its 

importance for Harold Thomas personally and professionally as an Aboriginal artist and for Aboriginal nations as 

a whole.  

The Aboriginal flag occupies a significant place in the history of Aboriginal people's struggle for land, identity, 

culture and heritage. It was designed in 1971, during a decade that was particularly important in terms of the flag's 

critical association with the movement for Aboriginal land rights and recognition. As such, the flag has acquired a 
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significant iconic role and the recognition of this has given it the status of a widely accepted unifying flag for 

Aboriginal people.  

APO NT understands and respects the critical importance of the Aboriginal flag to Harold Thomas, its maker. 

He has spoken about the inspiration and influence on his design of the landscape around Alice Springs, from 

which I speak to you today, the land where he was born.  

The breaches of copyright of the Aboriginal flag raise challenging questions about the status and role of the 

flag in Australian society and culture. APO NT would like to present to the inquiry today some options for 

consideration. We suggest an approach that might potentially resolve the tensions between the rights of Harold 

Thomas and the flag he designed and the need for the nation and wider society to be able to use the flag freely. To 

achieve these dual objectives we suggest a role for the federal government in assuming ownership of the flag on 

behalf of the Australian nation. 

The Aboriginal flag already has standing as one of Australia's officially proclaimed flags, having been 

recognised in 1995 under the Flags Act 1953. Copyright law in Australia provides for holders of copyright to 

licence and assign their rights. We suggest that the committee recommends to government that negotiations be 

entered into with Mr Harold Thomas with a view to requesting that he consider assigning his copyright in the 

Aboriginal flag to the Commonwealth government. The feasibility of and details for such a defining of copyright 

would need to be examined very closely by appropriate intellectual property legal expertise. We make this 

suggestion very carefully.  

We also suggest that, if Mr Thomas is agreeable to assigning his copyright in the Aboriginal flag to the 

Commonwealth, then the government give consideration to offering Mr Thomas a key role, possibly as its 

chairperson, in a newly-established entity, such as a national Aboriginal flag commission or council. This would 

enable him to retain a central role in decision-making regarding the management and use of the flag and would 

acknowledge the critically important place that the flag has in Mr Thomas's personal and professional life. 

We would invite the committee to recommend that the Commonwealth government assumes control of the 

Aboriginal flag under a newly established entity. This could be designated as an Aboriginal flag commission or 

council, and may be a subsidiary organisation within a national Indigenous cultural authority. The idea of such an 

authority was one of the recommendations in a 1999 report by Terri Janke titled Our culture: our future. It was 

further proposed in 2009 in a report by Janke called Beyond guarding ground, a vision for a national Indigenous 

cultural authority, and formed the basis for an Australian Council for the Arts public discussion paper. An entity 

of this kind could also enable Indigenous cultural and intellectual property rights across the entire scope to be 

equitably managed and regulated by Indigenous people in a self-determining way. In developing an arrangement 

such as this, effective recognition and protection of the existing rights of the flag designer, Mr Harold Thomas, 

will be essential. This may be achieved through a negotiated settlement. The roles and functions of a newly 

established Aboriginal flag commission or council should include an information, education and awareness 

campaign to create better understanding of and respect for the Aboriginal flag among the wider community. 

To close off our recommendations in the submission that we have submitted, we suggest that options are 

explored by the Commonwealth to acquire Harold Thomas' copyright for the Aboriginal flag; to consider the 

establishment of a formal government structure for the Aboriginal flag, possibly based on exploring comparative 

models of collective ownership and management of national symbols such as the Torres Strait Islander flag; to 

explore the possible role of an entity, provisionally entitled a national Aboriginal flag commission or council; and 

to explore ways to recognise or protect Mr Harold Thomas' rights to the Aboriginal flag, as the person who 

designed it, within the structure of a national Aboriginal flag commission or council. With that, Chair, I finish my 

formal statement.  

CHAIR:  Thank you very much, Ms Douglas. We have a fair few questions from senators, so I will go to our 

deputy chair, Senator Davey, first. 

Senator DAVEY:  Thank you, Ms Douglas, for attending today. I thank your body, APO NT, and the Central 

Land Council for the comprehensive submissions you have provided. They have enabled us to understand your 

thoughts on this issue. I also really appreciate the Central Land Council and yourselves putting forward options 

that you believe we need to consider. That is very constructive and gives us something to work with. 

I just want to better understand this. You talk about the need to respect Mr Thomas' rights as the copyright 

holder of something as symbolic as the flag, while acknowledging the tensions between the rights of the 

individual artist and the rights of the broader community to which that flag has become such an important symbol. 

You're recommending the government enter negotiations, which I note that they have already commenced. In the 
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absence of a negotiated outcome with Mr Thomas, what does your organisation feel about the idea of compulsory 

acquisition of the copyright? 

Dr Douglas:  Well, it is a very delicate thing to balance the rights of Mr Thomas with the national interest and 

the iconic status of the Aboriginal flag to the Aboriginal population of Australia. I would like to suggest that how 

it's treated is based on negotiation. I think you'll get the best outcome through a negotiated agreement and 

arrangement rather than compulsory acquisition. You need to get parties at the table to negotiate this matter, and 

that's certainly what the Central Land Council has put forward and what Aboriginal Peak Organisations Northern 

Territory suggests. 

Senator DAVEY:  We have certainly heard from other Indigenous art organisations about the need to respect 

the intellectual property of Indigenous artists is sacrosanct. In this instance, Mr Thomas has entered into licence 

agreements with other bodies to enable the reproduction of the flag on clothing, on digital print media, physical 

symbols, and also as a flag. We have heard from other witnesses the idea of assuming those licences, so in the 

negotiations that the Commonwealth potentially takes on those licences and manages them. There is also the idea 

of managing the reproduction in two ways: one for community and one for commercial. Have you got any 

thoughts on that sort of a structure? 

Dr Douglas:  In terms of Commonwealth acquisition of those licences, that is something I think should be 

pursued; however, the Commonwealth need to put arrangements in place to ensure Aboriginal governance of 

those arrangements. That is critical. And certainly, with regard to the current situation—I think it needs to be 

explored more in terms of how that might be structured. The different reproduction rights and how they're 

assigned and who manages those rights would need to be explored further. I don't have a ready-made answer for 

that question, but I do think it requires further careful consideration. 

Senator DAVEY:  That's fine. You mentioned the idea, and you credited Terri Janke's reports for it, of a 

national Indigenous cultural authority or agency. You said it would also enable Indigenous intellectual property to 

be managed centrally. Could you unpack that a bit further for me? I'm trying to understand whether it would be 

something similar to the existing copyright agency, but specifically for Indigenous artists. Would it provide them 

resources to help manage their own intellectual property and copyright, or would it be an agency that would take 

on the management role, almost like an agent or an art manager currently? 

Dr Douglas:  We know copyright law in Australia doesn't protect Indigenous cultural knowledge and heritage 

and communal ownership, and so the suggestion from Terri Janke is to ensure there is an authority that has the 

scope to protect Indigenous communal copyright and that it's adequately resourced to do so to fill in the gaps that 

currently exist within Australian copyright laws. For further information about that authority, I think Terri Janke 

should be asked to provide further advice to the committee. But, yes, it's in our submission and what I put to you 

today—that such an authority is needed, to ensure that Aboriginal intellectual and cultural copyright is adequately 

protected through such an authority. 

Senator DAVEY:  Just to be clear in my own head, it's not necessarily the Indigenous artist, the individual 

artist, who's currently protected under copyright law for their piece by piece, it's more about the communal and 

what is widely recognised as Indigenous art, to use the broad umbrella—things like the dot paintings and certain 

styles that are endemic to a region. They're not held by one single person but they're definitely recognised as 

Indigenous. But there is a lack of protection for that recognition. Am I on the right page there? 

Dr Douglas:  Yes. I think that a national entity of the kind described in our submission would enable, as I said, 

Indigenous cultural and intellectual property rights, across the entire scope of what that is inclusive of, to be 

equitably managed and regulated by Indigenous peoples in a self-determining way. 

Senator THORPE:  I'm interested in your views on how Aboriginal people can maintain control over the use 

of the flag and how we might be able to ensure Aboriginal communities benefit from the commercial use of the 

flag. 

Dr Douglas:  In terms of the commercial use of the flag, that would have to go back to Mr Harold Thomas as 

the creator of that design. Our submission and what I put to the inquiry today is that it is a delicate balance 

between protecting the rights of the Aboriginal artist who created the work—it's the tension between the flag as a 

piece of art and then the flag as a national symbol of Aboriginal people's survival and resistance and resilience. 

That is the tension that we have described in our submission.  

In terms of the commercial benefits, as it stands and how it is now, they do go back, rightfully so, to Mr Harold 

Thomas. It's the tension between the Aboriginal community and the love that we have for that Aboriginal flag and 

what it represents to our struggle, what it represents to the land rights. I speak to you today from the Central Land 
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Council, on the lands of the Arrernte people, in Alice Springs. That is the tension, I think, that we're all grappling 

with and this inquiry is needing to come up with some suggestions around.  

In terms of the Commonwealth negotiating an agreement, it has to be negotiated with Mr Thomas. I think that's 

the way to go. The flag should be free to be used by Aboriginal people, our organisations, our agencies, across 

Australia as a symbol of our identity, our heritage, our culture and our survival. Again, it's that balance and the 

tension between getting the two things carefully worked out, in terms of Mr Thomas's rights as the artist and the 

copyright holder and the ability of Aboriginal nations across Australia to use that flag as a symbol of identity. 

Senator THORPE:  Thank you. We've also heard from the community about how removing copyright from 

an Aboriginal artist would be seen as problematic, particularly given the history of First Nations people and the 

government—for example, with stolen wages, land displacement, stolen generations, and many other instances 

where First Nations people have had their property and their rights forcibly taken. Do you or your members have 

a view on the compulsory acquisition of the licences which are not held by Aboriginal community-controlled 

organisations? 

Dr Douglas:  Yes. Our view is that it needs to be a negotiated settlement. Anything done by force is, I think, a 

bit of a worry. Our position is that it should be a negotiated outcome. 

Senator THORPE:  Thank you. You mentioned that one option could be that the Commonwealth could 

acquire the rights to the flag. What is your view on the flag being acquired by, for example, an Aboriginal 

community-controlled organisation rather than the government? 

Dr Douglas:  That is a very good question. I think that, because the flag is a national iconic symbol, it needs to 

be treated with the status and respect that it deserves, and I think that that should be in a national authority. This is 

not a new idea. This is something that Terri Janke has written about over the last 20-plus years, so there are 

possible models already available for consideration through the work of Terri Janke, in terms of a national 

authority. But what APO NT and the Central Land Council are suggesting is that the flag then come under this 

national authority, or that there be a national flag commission. I think it needs to be national because of the 

symbolism of the flag and what it means to Aboriginal people in Australia as a whole. So I don't think it's 

appropriate that a local Aboriginal-controlled organisation has the—it's a big thing. It would be a big thing to hold 

the workings of the flag within an organisation. I think it needs to be a national agency, with Aboriginal control 

and governance. 

Senator THORPE:  Right. So it could be self-determined by Aboriginal people rather than the government, in 

terms of controlling how it's managed? 

Dr Douglas:  That's right; that's correct. A national flag commission or an Indigenous-controlled entity for 

Indigenous cultural heritage needs to be managed by Aboriginal people in a self-determining way. That's certainly 

what we've outlined in our submission to the inquiry. 

Senator THORPE:  Great. My final question is: has APO NT, or your members, been restricted in using the 

flag, either in logos, websites, email signatures, or in any other way, and, if so, what effect has this had on your 

members and on the community? 

Dr Douglas:  The flag is such a potent symbol of land rights—and, certainly, I'm speaking from a land council 

perspective. It's a potent symbol of culture and heritage and survival. Given what's happened with the flag in most 

recent times, I think there is a hesitation now in terms of its use. That is a really disappointing outcome with the 

current licensing arrangements. People should be able to freely use the Aboriginal flag as a symbol of identity 

and, indeed, as a symbol of strength. 

Senator DODSON:  Are you aware of any organisations in Central Australia that have been issued with a 

cease-and-desist notice? 

Dr Douglas:  I'm not aware of any such organisations. I can take that question on notice, but I don't have any 

knowledge of the organisations you speak of. 

CHAIR:  If you do take that question on notice, you have until 30 September to respond. 

Dr Douglas:  Okay, thank you. I have no knowledge of any notices being served to local organisations in Alice 

Springs. 

Senator DODSON:  You spoke of tensions. I can understand the collective sense of ownership of the flag as it 

butts up against the individual rights of Mr Thomas under whitefella law. Do you want to say a bit more about 

that—in particular, in relation to the country and the people whose lands are around the Arrernte. There are a 

number of different nations around the Arrente people. It's their country, and Mr Thomas is part of one aspect of 
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that. Can you help the committee understand that the tensions are not just about the individual; there are deep 

cross-cultural currents which are virtually inexplicable to the Western legal concept of private ownership. 

Dr Douglas:  The Aboriginal flag was designed by a Luritja man but it unites Aboriginal nations in Central 

Australia and across Australia. In terms of its role in political identity and as a symbol of culture, strength and 

survival, in Alice Springs the flying of the Aboriginal flag has been a divisive issue for many years. In the past, 

there was a long-running struggle between the Alice Springs Town Council and others over flying the Aboriginal 

flag on Anzac Hill, where Anzac commemorations are held each year. Over many years, there was strong 

resistance to having the Aboriginal flag flying atop Anzac Hill. This is further complicated in terms of Aboriginal 

service men and Aboriginal people wanting to have the Aboriginal flag flying atop Anzac Hill in recognition of 

the Anzac tradition and the service of Aboriginal men and women and for that to be also reflected in Australia's 

national consciousness. It has been a divisive issue in Alice Springs for many years. 

The Aboriginal flag is a significant symbol of unity for Aboriginal people—for example, at the Freedom Day 

Festival marking the Gurindji people's walk-off at Wave Hill, an event of great significance in the history of land 

rights in Australia. Certainly, there is the prominence of the flag that flies at the Aboriginal Tent Embassy in 

Canberra. This demonstrates an association with Aboriginal people's struggle for self-determination rights and 

sovereignty. These are the reasons I have outlined why the Aboriginal flag has been so widely recognised and 

used as a symbol of Aboriginal people's unity and identity. 

Coming back to the issue of flying the flag on Anzac Hill, this has been resolved after many years of struggle 

to achieve that. The controversy around the flying of the Aboriginal flag has been around for a very long time. I 

can now happily say that the flag is now being flown on Anzac Hill—and the site hasn't fallen down. It is part of 

the flags that fly on Anzac Hill. 

Senator DODSON:  Has Mr Thomas had any discussions with the Central Land Council or with APO NT? 

Dr Douglas:  There have been no discussions with Mr Harold Thomas. 

Senator BRAGG:  Thank you for your submission. Am I right in saying that you have had a hand in the 

submission from the Central Land Council? 

Dr Douglas:  Yes, that's correct. 

Senator BRAGG:  I found that submission very helpful. Thank you for putting so much time and effort into 

addressing some of these complicated issues. I'm not an Indigenous person. Could you talk a bit more about the 

level of support for and identification with the Aboriginal flag within the Aboriginal community. 

Dr Douglas:  It's a symbol of identity. It's a symbol of our survival and strength. It's a symbol of being proud 

to be Aboriginal—and I'm certainly very proud to be an Aboriginal person. It's a symbol of identity. In terms of 

Aboriginal nations across Australia, the flag is a unifying feature. Australia is made up of hundreds and hundreds 

of different language groups, nations and clans, and we have one symbol, the Aboriginal flag, which unifies us. 

Senator BRAGG:  I followed what Mr Thomas said on radio last year. It sounds like we're talking about 

almost everyone. Is that right? 

Dr Douglas:  Sorry, I don't understand the question. 

Senator BRAGG:  Would you say support for and identification with this flag is almost universal? 

Dr Douglas:  Yes, I would say it is universal. 

Senator BRAGG:  Your preferred approach is that the Commonwealth negotiate with Mr Thomas with a view 

to settling negotiations so that the Aboriginal flag can have equal status with the Australian flag? 

Dr Douglas:  As I explained earlier, the Aboriginal flag already has standing as one of Australia's officially 

proclaimed flags. It was recognised in 1995. 

Senator BRAGG:  In terms of making the flag widely available, like the Australian flag, you are looking for a 

form of equivalence? 

Dr Douglas:  Yes, that's right—to explore models of collective ownership and management of national 

symbols, as is the case with the Torres Strait Islander flag. There are practising models available that I think we 

can look to. 

Senator BRAGG:  In terms of threading that altogether, given that your position is that the Commonwealth 

should negotiate in good faith with Mr Thomas, which is underway, if that is a successful negotiation then the 

Commonwealth would have to give some thought to how it would effectively house the copyright if it was to 

purchase it. So your view is that the Commonwealth would hold that but there would be some community 

consultation and input into how that is managed going forward? 
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Dr Douglas:  It would have to be very carefully worked out, because it is quite a big thing for the 

Commonwealth to acquire copyright. There would have to be provisions in terms of Aboriginal governance and 

control negotiated with how this all may take place. 

Senator BRAGG:  I want to complete my understanding of something that is not directly relevant to this: the 

Aboriginal flag now flies at Anzac Hill? 

Dr Douglas:  Yes. 

CHAIR:  In relation to Mr Thomas and the fact that, as a Luritja man, his country is within the boundaries of 

the Central Land Council—and Senator Dodson did ask you a little bit about this—could you expand on the 

importance of Luritja to the Central Land Council and, more importantly, to the Central Australian region,  just 

for the sake of the committee, and identify that particular area of land and where it is. 

Dr Douglas:  The Luritja language group is one of the larger language groups in Central Australia. It is in the 

south-west region. Certainly previous chairs of the Central Land Council have been Luritja speakers. The Luritja 

language group is one of the larger language groups in South Australia. The flag means so much to Aboriginal 

people in Central Australia. As I said earlier, it is associated with the struggle for land rights, with the Gurindji 

walk-off led by Vincent Lingiari. It's a highly powerful and emotive symbol to Aboriginal people in Central 

Australia. It is used regularly in our celebrations, whether it's celebrating NAIDOC Week or whether it's 

marching in protest against the matter that happened at Yuendumu, with the police shooting of a young 

Aboriginal man. The flag was used during those peaceful protest marches in Alice Springs. So the flag is used to 

celebrate the survival and the strength of Aboriginal people. It's used as a symbol of identity and protest, in 

proclaiming to Australia, 'This is who we are. We're Aboriginal people. We are proud and strong, and we stand 

tall in who we are and our identity.' The flag should be able to be freely used by Aboriginal nations across 

Australia. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Dr Douglas. I go to the recommendations of the Central Land Council and invite the 

committee to look at the recommendation of an Aboriginal flag commission or council. You made reference to 

Terri Janke. The secretariat will provide to the senators copies of her report from 1999 and also the 2009 report, 

Beyond guarding ground, just to inform ourselves some more on the reasonings behind suggesting what you have. 

You referred to Terri Janke, but how did the council and APO NT come to this recommendation? 

Dr Douglas:  It's a recommendation based on recognising communal ownership and communal interest in the 

Aboriginal flag. At the moment, it's with the copyright holder and the artist and the creator, but there needs to be 

scope for communal ownership of the Aboriginal flag. Indeed, landownership is based on communal title. We're 

not going to go there today. I just say that the issue of community interest and communal ownership is certainly 

something that the members of the Central Land Council are very familiar with and the members of APO NT are 

very familiar with. It's about grappling with the current tensions, in terms of the rights of the artist and then the 

communal interest and collective interest in the Aboriginal flag as a symbol of identity and as a national icon 

representing the Aboriginal people of Australia. We came to the view, in terms of the recommendation, based on 

the work of Terri Janke. Let's not forget that there's been a lot of work done in this area, so it's not about 

reinventing the wheel; it's about looking at the work that's been done previously in this area and it certainly 

matches the sensibilities and the understandings of the membership of Central Land Council, in terms of 

communal ownership and communal interests. 

CHAIR:  Dr Douglas, as you've identified to the committee, there are Luritja speakers and representatives on 

the council. Have there been discussions with Mr Thomas via those networks or more formally with the Land 

Council and APO NT around this recommendation? 

Dr Douglas:  No; there hasn't been any informal or formal discussion with Mr Thomas, but it's certainly 

something that we would embrace and welcome, if that opportunity did arise. 

CHAIR:  Dr Douglas, on that note, we would like to say thank you for your appearance before the Senate 

inquiry this morning. You've certainly provided us with very detailed information on the origins of the flag and 

Mr Thomas himself as a Luritja man, so thank you. 

Dr Douglas:  Thank you, Madam Chair. 
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COCOTIS, Ms Kristie, Access and Equity Manager, Diabetes Victoria 

MITCHELL, Mr Colin, Aboriginal Liaison Officer, Diabetes Victoria 

Evidence was taken via teleconference— 

[10:54] 

CHAIR:  Welcome. Thank you for taking the time to give evidence today. Information about parliamentary 

privilege has been provided to you and is available from the secretariat. The committee has received your 

submission as submission No. 7. Do you wish to make any amendments or corrections to it? If you do, please let 

us know. You are also welcome to make a brief opening statement before we begin with questions. Over to you.  

Ms Cocotis:  Thank you very much for inviting us to the hearing today to discuss our submission. We don't 

have any changes required for our submission. I have a very brief opening statement.  

Mr Mitchell:  Can you hear me? 

CHAIR:  We can hear you, Mr Mitchell; we just can't see you at the moment. Is there anything you would like 

to add, in terms of an opening statement, or are you happy with Ms Cocotis— 

Mr Mitchell:  I'm happy with Ms Cocotis doing the opening statement. 

CHAIR:  Thank you. I might go to Senator Thorpe to start the questions this morning. 

Senator THORPE:  Welcome. You mentioned in your submission that you have used the Aboriginal flag on 

various digital publications and other media to promote a culturally safe service to Aboriginal people. After 

receiving a cease-and-desist letter you stopped using the flag. In your experience, how effective has it been to use 

the Aboriginal flag to reach Aboriginal communities? 

Mr Mitchell:  Do you want me to respond? 

Ms Cocotis:  Yes. I'll let Colin talk first to this, and then I can— 

Mr Mitchell:  Thank you. The evidence we've got of the significance of the Aboriginal flag and why we use it 

is that it identifies with all Aboriginal people, because the flag is our identity. The flag promotes our Aboriginal 

program. It is so significant to Aboriginal people. As soon as they see the flag they automatically resonate with it. 

It's their connection, it's their identity, it's their culture and it's their history. One of the reasons we use it is that it's 

so recognisable by all Aboriginal people. When we create resources for the Aboriginal communities, we naturally 

put the Aboriginal flag on it. We know that as soon as an Aboriginal person sees that resource, and they might 

have diabetes, straightaway they will pick up that resource and take it home and delve into it—whereas, if it didn't 

have an Aboriginal flag on it, they might think it's a resource for a different community or just anybody. As soon 

as they see the Aboriginal flag on a resource they know straightaway, because they can identify with it and 

connect with it. 

Ms Cocotis:  I didn't get a chance to do the opening statement or acknowledge the land on which we are on 

earlier. 

CHAIR:  Please go for it, my apologies. Please go with your opening statement. 

Ms Cocotis:  I'd like to acknowledge the traditional custodians of the land on which I am currently on, the 

Wurundjeri people of the Kulin nation. I'd also like to acknowledge the traditional custodians of country 

throughout Australia and pay respect to elders past and present, and extend that respect to Aboriginal and Torres 

Strait Islander people who are participating today. 

Since 1953, Diabetes Victoria has been the leading charity and peak consumer body working to reduce the 

impact of diabetes in the Victorian community. We work to support, empower and campaign for all Victorians 

affected by or at risk of diabetes and we strive to reduce the impact of diabetes amongst Aboriginal and Torres 

Strait Islander communities in Victoria. Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people are four times more likely to 

be diagnosed with diabetes and experience poorer health outcomes as a result. In addition, we have a strong 

commitment to ensuring that we're a culturally safe workplace for both employees and the community we work 

with. 

To respond to Senator Thorpe's question, we have used in the past the flag on physical media and digital media 

for Aboriginal people and communities. We've done this to demonstrate our respect and our commitment to being 

a culturally safe organisation, not only for Aboriginal members we are working to reduce the impact of diabetes 

on but for employees as well. We believe it is particularly important as a non-Aboriginal organisation that the 

Aboriginal flag is a symbol that identifies specific resources and media to be Aboriginal-specific or be identified 

with by Aboriginal people and communities. 
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Senator THORPE:  Thank you for that response. When you removed the flag, did you notice a drop of 

engagement of Aboriginal people with your service? How long have you flown the flag or used the flag? When 

did you stop using it? What has the impact been on engaging with the community? 

Mr Mitchell:  We've been using the flag for 11 years now. We have just recently taken it off our signatories, 

taken it off some of our resources in the case that we could come into some legal action. 

Ms Cocotis:  As soon as we became aware of WAM Clothing holding exclusive licence of the use of the 

Aboriginal flag on certain items, including digital and physical media, we removed the flag off all of our physical 

and digital media. It may not necessarily have directly impacted Diabetes Victoria, but it certainly would have an 

impact on Aboriginal communities and Aboriginal people, who the flag is there to represent. 

Senator STOKER:  I thank the witnesses for their submissions and for the work they do to assist people in our 

community in Victoria to understand and manage diabetes; that is important work. Going through the process that 

is recounted in your submission trying to get permission to use the Aboriginal flag from WAM Clothing, can you 

recount for us the terms of the arrangement offered to you, without going into fees or anything. What was the 

administrative process you had to go through to seek that permission? 

Ms Cocotis:  In mid-2019, when we became aware that WAM Clothing held the exclusive licence, we 

removed the flag, as I mentioned earlier, off our digital and physical media. However, at the same time, we 

understood that Mr Harold Thomas was always of the view that charitable organisations such as ours would have 

access to the flag in an unrestricted way. So our Diabetes Victoria CEO, Craig Bennett, wrote a letter to the 

creator and copyright holder of the Aboriginal flag, Mr Harold Thomas, in August 2019 to seek his permission for 

us to use images of the Aboriginal flag on various digital media and physical media. 

Senator STOKER:  How did you become aware that there were restrictions on your ability to use the 

Aboriginal flag? 

Ms Cocotis:  At the time, there was significant media coverage of the issues [inaudible]. 

Senator STOKER:  So you didn't receive a notice to cease and desist or anything like that? 

Ms Cocotis:  No, we did not. 

Senator STOKER:  Do you use Aboriginal artworks or Aboriginal designs in any of the materials you 

produce to help people understand the health work that you do? 

Ms Cocotis:  Yes, we do. 

Senator STOKER:  Do you face a need to get permission or pay a royalty to use any of those? 

Ms Cocotis:  We have commissioned artists to create artwork specifically for Diabetes Victoria. 

Senator STOKER:  So you pay up front on arrangements that allow you to use them in the ways you 

envisage? 

Ms Cocotis:  Yes, that's correct. 

Senator STOKER:  In what you've done, have you acknowledged there is a right for Aboriginal people to be 

able to earn a living from their art, if being a professional artist is the vocation they have chosen? 

Ms Cocotis:  Yes, that is right. We do respect Mr Harold Thomas' right as the creator and copyright holder of 

the Aboriginal flag. 

Senator STOKER:  We've heard lots of evidence about how important the Aboriginal flag is, particularly to 

Aboriginal people—although, I would suggest there are lots of people in our community, even those who are not 

Aboriginal, who have an affection for it—that means it has a special status under the Flags Act as being elevated 

above most flags but, I guess, a tier below the Australian National Flag, which is out there on its own. Do you see 

practical problems—I acknowledge you touched on this already—associated with continuing to have an 

arrangement where the ability to use the Aboriginal flag is limited by the private property rights of an individual? 

Ms Cocotis:  Yes, I think is the answer to that. Colin, I don't know if  you want to talk to this at all. It's more so 

the fact that our concern was that the restriction of it meant that Aboriginal people and Aboriginal organisations 

would not be able to access or use the flag as freely if they couldn't afford to, if they didn't have the means to. 

Senator STOKER:  There are a range of ways that we could go about solving that problem—and I'm not 

suggesting that any one of them at this point in time is preferred by government. There is an opportunity for the 

flag to be the subject, in many ways, of purchase as an item that is owned by Mr Thomas and able to be licensed 

by him to whoever he likes. There's the purchase of those property rights by the Commonwealth to be held in 

many ways on trust for the Australian people, including Aboriginal people, so that access can be provided. There's 

an option for it to be the subject of purchase that might be by Aboriginal people. There's an option for there to be 
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provision made for the payment of fees to the owner of the intellectual property at this point in time on behalf of 

community organisations that need to access it for the important work that you do. Do you have views on what 

might be the best way to solve this problem? 

Ms Cocotis:  Respecting the fact that we are a non-Aboriginal organisation, I don't think it's necessarily our 

position or our place to provide that view. We do believe, as stated in our submission, that an informed and 

amicable agreement needs to be reached so that Aboriginal people and communities are able to freely use the flag. 

Senator STOKER:  So no doubt you take comfort from the knowledge that the government is negotiating 

with Mr Thomas, trying to work that out—although, to some extent, holding this inquiry in many ways makes 

those negotiations more difficult, because there's an information exchange that is a part of this that can make 

those negotiations more difficult. But, putting that aside for a moment, is it true to say then that you're happy with 

the path that's being taken at the moment to try, on terms that are acceptable to Mr Thomas, to make that flag 

more available for more Australians? 

Ms Cocotis:  I, and Diabetes Victoria, think that it's great that the Senate hearings are underway and that this 

process is underway. It is key that we are respectful to Mr Harold Thomas as the creator of the flag as well. 

Senator STOKER:  Thank you. Mr Mitchell, did you want to add anything there? 

Mr Mitchell:  We'd just like to see that both parties are respected, with the decision, and we want to ensure 

that everybody has access to the flag, because they identify so clearly with it. We're happy with the process. We 

just want to see a positive outcome so that everybody can share the Aboriginal flag, because it has great emotional 

[inaudible] for us and highlights our culture and our history. 

Senator STOKER:  I have one final question or a final point, which is to say this: we don't have clear 

positions from some of the parties about how they would handle this situation. How would you feel if the property 

of Mr Thomas were to be taken from him against his will as part of some sort of compulsory acquisition? What 

would your view of that be? 

Ms Cocotis:  I don't think we can comment on that. 

Senator STOKER:  Mr Mitchell, do you have a view? 

Mr Mitchell:  No, sorry. 

Senator STOKER:  Thanks very much. I have no further questions, Chair. 

CHAIR:  I will go to Senator Dodson.  

Senator DODSON:  Let me say at the outset that I think this inquiry is providing a great opportunity for many 

Australians to have a say about their concerns as to what's happening with the Aboriginal flag. To the position of 

Diabetes Victoria: can you inform us of what materials or clothing you attached the flag to, prior to your decision 

not to use the flag? What kind of product were you putting it on? 

Ms Cocotis:  It wasn't on clothing—just various digital and physical media. It was on anything that we were 

using to promote the Aboriginal program for Diabetes Victoria as well as being a culturally safe workplace. 

Senator DODSON:  So the products you were using were specifically targeted to the Aboriginal community 

of Victoria? 

Ms Cocotis:  Correct. 

Senator DODSON:  And the purpose of that was to encourage them to tend to their diabetes and receive help 

and get information? 

Mr Mitchell:  One of the main reasons was: when Aboriginal people see a resource with an Aboriginal flag on 

it, straight away it's culturally appropriate. More importantly it's culturally safe, because it's a resource designed 

for Aboriginal people. So that was the purpose. We've got these five booklets that talk to five different subjects on 

diabetes. We put the flag in there as well, because we know that Aboriginal people will pick up that resource. As I 

said before,  as soon as they see the flag there's a sense of comfort: 'This resource is for us. It must be good for us, 

because it was designed for us.' It's just a subtle way of letting the community know: 'Yes, this resource is yours 

and it's designed for you.' With the flag there, it really harnesses the resource and strengthens it for the community 

to know that, yes, it's designed for them. They don't feel inferior in picking it up and being able to read it and 

ascertain the information in it, because the flag basically embeds that the information is particularly designed for 

them to understand. 

Senator DODSON:  Ms Cocotis, how did you feel when, having a belief that Mr Thomas was in support of 

the kinds of activities you'd been undertaking, you got a letter from WAM seeking a fee? Your knowledge is that 

First Nations people are four times more likely to suffer from diabetes, and you are promoting a specific program 



Page 10 Senate Wednesday, 23 September 2020 

 

ABORIGINAL FLAG SELECT COMMITTEE 

using this iconic symbol. How did you feel about that kind of response to the goodwill that I see in the way you've 

gone about the program? 

Ms Cocotis:  It was certainly a confusing response. I think we felt confused. We felt disappointed with the 

response as well. 

Senator DODSON:  So what impact have your decisions now and the decision by WAM to seek a commercial 

return had on your organisation? 

Ms Cocotis:  I think it is more about the reduced visibility of the Aboriginal flag and being able to actively 

promote. It's a very small but important and significant way to identify resources in programs for Aboriginal 

people in Victoria. As I mentioned earlier, I don't think it has necessarily had a significant impact on Diabetes 

Victoria but it certainly would have on Aboriginal people and the communities that we're there to support and 

serve. 

Senator DODSON:  You mentioned before that you have been prepared to pay for Indigenous artistic works. 

Are you in a position to tell us the fee that you were being asked by WAM to pay, and was it something you could 

have afforded? 

Ms Cocotis:  There are two different things there. In terms of seeking artists for specific artwork for our 

programs and services, we are feeding back into and supporting local Aboriginal communities that we are there to 

support and aiming to reduce the impact of diabetes within those communities. In terms of the response we 

received from WAM Clothing, we decided not to proceed with the agreement based on the principle that 

Aboriginal services more broadly would not be able to freely access the Aboriginal flag. 

Senator DODSON:  Thank you both for your submissions. 

Senator O'SULLIVAN:  Mr Mitchell and Ms Cocotis, thank you for your evidence. I echo what other 

senators have said regarding the support you're providing to Aboriginal people across Victoria, particularly in the 

area of diabetes and health; it's very important. What I'm trying to understand, having sat through several days of 

hearings, is: what is the end state that the broad community representation is really looking for here? Obviously 

we want use of the flag, because it has such significant cultural and spiritual interest for the community. What's 

the end state we're looking for here? Is it that Aboriginal owned organisations would be able to replicate the flag 

for their own uses and purposes? What about organisations that maybe just want to print and sell merchandise, or 

people that might want to sell souvenirs—should they only be Aboriginal owned organisations or can anyone 

reproduce it? If it goes out into the public domain, what limitations do you think need to be there, or would you 

like to see, for people? 

Ms Cocotis:  I think I mentioned this before. We had the understanding, when we first contacted Mr Harold 

Thomas, that charitable organisations such as ours would have access to the use of the flag in an unrestricted way 

and that Aboriginal people and Aboriginal communities and organisations would be able to freely use the flag. In 

addition to that, I don't think I can answer that question on behalf of Diabetes Victoria; I don't think we can 

provide further to that, as we don't have, from a health organisation perspective, the expertise to answer that. But I 

look forward to hearing the outcome. 

Senator O'SULLIVAN:  As a non-government organisation delivering a public benevolent service to the 

community, your interest in it, as you were saying before, is being able to identify your services to allow people 

who identify as Aboriginal people to look at your service as one they can trust and work with; they ultimately 

know where you're coming from, because you have the flag as part of your promotional material. Are you saying 

that that would be the limitation of its use—that it would be used for public benevolent type organisations—or do 

you think it could be something more broad, without having to paying a licence fee or something like that? 

Ms Cocotis:  It is a flag that is significant for Aboriginal people across Australia as well as non-Aboriginal 

people across Australia. It's a symbol of so much. But I was speaking just from our perspective on why it is 

important for us to be able to freely use the flag. 

Senator O'SULLIVAN:  Mr Mitchell, do you want to add anything to that? 

Mr Mitchell:  Just the significance of the flag. We just want to see a positive outcome and ensure that Harold 

Thomas is recognised but also that organisations are able to use the flag informationally. 

Senator O'SULLIVAN:  Thank you. 

CHAIR:  I'll go now to Senator Siewert. 

Senator SIEWERT:  Good morning. I want to go back to the use of the flag on leaflets and digitally so people 

can understand that the services are culturally appropriate and safe. Since you stopped using the flag, have you 

found that people aren't taking the brochures or aren't as sure that the services will meet their needs? Are they 
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unaware either that they're appropriate for them or that they're culturally safe? Has it made a difference to the 

interaction with your clients? 

Mr Mitchell:  Some of our resources have artwork on them, so they still take the resources. But, yes, we 

always get feedback from the community saying, 'It's good you've got the flag on there.' When we did have the 

flag on our pictorial guides, we'd always get a comment: 'Oh, wow, you've got the flag on there. That's great.' 

They just felt comfortable with it. But now the comments are more like: 'What happened to the flag?' They 

basically comment, 'Where's the flag?' It's the feeling in the community that having that flag accompanying our 

resources made them feel more secure and comfortable in taking the resource. 

Senator SIEWERT:  I understand what you've been saying about not wanting to make a call on what it should 

look like—I get that. I'm wondering whether there has been any outreach from other organisations to either of you 

to talk about some suggestions that you could put forward about how to use it for not-for-profit organisations and 

non-commercial use. Have you had any broader discussions with any other organisations? 

Ms Cocotis:  No. 

Senator SIEWERT:  So no-one has reached out? Are you aware that other organisations that you work with 

have also stopped using the flag for the same reasons that you have? 

Ms Cocotis:  No, actually. 

Senator SIEWERT:  You mentioned in your submission, and in answer to a question from Senator Dodson, 

that you didn't want to pay the fee because you essentially wanted to be in solidarity with other organisations who 

couldn't afford to pay the fee. If someone came up with a scale for organisations to pay either a small fee or a fee 

that looked after, in particular—this is what I understood you to be saying—Aboriginal organisations, would you 

then be willing to pay a small service fee? If concessions were made to those organisations that couldn't afford to 

pay, would your organisation be willing to pay a small fee, like you do for the artwork that you commission? 

Ms Cocotis:  I don't think I could comment on that at this point in time. I think we would have to see what it 

was like and then we would be able to respond to that. 

Senator SIEWERT:  Thank you. Thank you, Chair. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Senator Siewert. I'll ask a few questions before we close. I'll go back to a couple of 

things. You mentioned that Mr Bennett, I think, wrote to Mr Thomas in August 2019. Is that correct? 

Ms Cocotis:  Yes; that's correct. 

CHAIR:  As a request from the committee, is it possible for that letter to be tabled to the Senate committee? 

Ms Cocotis:  I can see if that's possible and let you know. 

CHAIR:  Sure. Did you get a response from Mr Thomas to the letter from Mr Bennett? 

Ms Cocotis:  No. The response came from WAM Clothing. We did not hear from Mr Thomas. 

CHAIR:  At all? 

Ms Cocotis:  At all. 

CHAIR:  And that is why you then received correspondence from WAM? 

Ms Cocotis:  Yes; correct. 

CHAIR:  There was reference made in that letter about the correspondence to Mr Thomas from WAM? 

Ms Cocotis:  I believe so. I can check that and provide a response. 

CHAIR:  Could you also check, obviously with Mr Bennett and others, if it's possible to table the letter from 

WAM to Diabetes Victoria? 

Ms Cocotis:  Sure. I'll make a note. 

CHAIR:  And also your response, if Diabetes Victoria did respond to WAM. Would that be possible? 

Ms Cocotis:  Okay. 

CHAIR:  Whilst it's technically not really a question on notice, we do have a time frame to 30 September, Ms 

Cocotis, just so you know when to get back to us. They're the main documents that we would like to receive, if 

possible. I'd like to thank you and Mr Mitchell for appearing before us today. I also thank Diabetes Victoria for 

the work that you do, in terms of such a scourge of a disease for all Australians but in particular for First Nations 

people. We certainly recognise that through our closing the gap conversations in the parliament and the 

importance of health for all Australians, but especially First Nations people. I thank you and your team at 

Diabetes Victoria for what you do. 
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Ms Cocotis:  Thank you. 

Proceedings suspended from 11:33 to 11:52 
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BECK, Ms Gail, Chair, Aboriginal Advisory Council Western Australia 

GRAHAM, Mr Michael, Chief Executive Officer, Victorian Aboriginal Health Service 

HARATHUNIAN, Mr Ara (Julga), Director and Chief Executive Officer, Indigenous Wellbeing Centre 

YOUNG, Mrs Janette, Communications Manager, Indigenous Wellbeing Centre 

Evidence was taken via teleconference— 

CHAIR:  Welcome. Thank you for taking the time to give evidence today. Information about parliamentary 

privilege has been provided to you and is available from the secretariat. I remind senators and witnesses that the 

Senate has resolved that an officer of a department of the Commonwealth or of a state or territory shall not be 

asked to give opinions on matters of policy and shall be given reasonable opportunity to refer questions asked of 

the officer to superior officers or to a minister. This resolution prohibits only questions asking for opinions on 

matters of policy and does not preclude questions asking for explanations of policies or factual questions about 

when and how policies were adopted. If you would like to provide an opening statement to the committee you are 

welcome to do so. 

Mrs Young:  We don't really need to provide a statement. It's really just a series of events that led to the 

situation being brought to the community's notice and the level of impact it's had on the grassroots Aboriginal 

community not being able to keep the flag off not-for-profit materials such as T-shirts. 

CHAIR:  Thank you. We'll come to you for questions in a moment. Mr Graham, do you have an opening 

statement you wish to make to the committee? 

Mr Graham:  I haven't actually prepared a statement, and I haven't been campaigning in any of the Free The 

Flag campaigns or anything like that. But, as most of you know, in Melbourne things are quite hectic around the 

COVID response, and that's affecting a lot of our mob with mental health issues and things like that—a large 

number of suicides and a whole lot of other things that are happening. When you add the fact that we feel as 

though we can't be united under the Aboriginal flag that we've been united under for so many years—and I don't 

need to talk to people about the history of where it came from, through the 1970s and some of the adjustments 

that were made to who owned the flag and things like that through the 1990s—it's disappointing, the fact that we 

can't use the flag on our shirts and other things that we share with our mob. Also, we've had a lot of people, a lot 

of things happen, under that flag and it represents more than just artwork, although I do understand Harold 

Thomas having ownership of the artwork. It is, to some extent, dividing some of the community, which at this 

time is something we definitely don't need. So I hope that through this whole inquiry there's some resolution that 

can help us move forward under the Aboriginal flag as it is. 

CHAIR:  I'll go firstly to questions to Mr Harathunian and Mrs Young, if I may. Could you provide some 

further explanation for the committee? I know you haven't provided a submission as such, but perhaps you could 

give some details to the committee as to what your experiences have been in terms of the use of the Aboriginal 

flag. 

Mr Harathunian:  The use of the Aboriginal flag to us is very important, especially for our Bundaberg 

community here. I suppose our concern was when we found out that there was a copyright issue, which we didn't 

understand there was, all these years. We did submit a letter and communicated with the licensees to find out 

what the process was and also to explain that we are an Aboriginal medical service and the emblem of the 

Aboriginal flag was used on these T-shirts—the 715. When an Aboriginal person comes and gets a health check 

we provide this free T-shirt to them on an annual basis, knowing that they're walking around and people are 

seeing the 715. It was a free gift to them. We asked whether we could be exempted from any of these copyright 

issues, and they came back and basically said no. They initially offered for us to be charged 20 per cent and later 

on they gave us an additional discount of five per cent. With that five per cent discount we had to sign a 

confidentiality agreement that we could not share with anybody or speak of that five per cent additional discount. 

So we refused the agreement. Now we do not put the Aboriginal flag on our shirts, unfortunately, and we haven't 

from last year. The community is not happy, but they've accepted that, due to this licensing, we will just not do it, 

unless something comes up, especially for AMSs or Aboriginal health or community services, so that we could be 

exempt from this licence. 

Our concern really is this. We understand that copyright's there, and we understand that there are a lot of 

people out there abusing that copyright by selling the products for their own personal business gain. But we see 

that there should be some sort of agreement for Aboriginal organisations who are giving these free—as in, are not 

selling them—to be exempt from this. 
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Mrs Young:  I'll just jump in. I got involved in the conversation from the get go. We'd seen in the media that 

this copyright issue had arisen. We wanted to do the right thing, so we contacted WAM. I had a lot of trouble 

getting hold of them, but I eventually tracked them down. I was actually in the boardroom with my Aunty Cheri, 

who is a cultural healing worker, when I finally got the call back. So I explained that we were an Aboriginal 

community controlled health organisation, that we had had a shirt designed by our own Indigenous health 

practitioners, who were very proud of it, and that we provided health checks to Aboriginal people that were 

specifically for Aboriginal people—MBS Item 715 health checks; they're very important—and that we gave these 

shirts away free of charge. When I first spoke to this person called Semele Moore, she seemed okay; I thought, 

'Well, that's fine.' She said: 'Put it in writing and send it through.' So I put it in writing and sent it through. And 

she came back with a thing saying: 'Our standard rate is 20 per cent plus GST.' I went, 'Whoa! That's a lot!' And 

then she said: 'But you can have it for 15 per cent plus GST, as long as you sign a confidentiality agreement.' It 

just seemed appalling, because I'd assumed that someone would say: 'Look, it's fine; you can use it,' because 

obviously it's for the health and wellbeing of Aboriginal people. 

People are very proud of these shirts—and not only our staff. Around here, a lot of people walk down the street 

and they've got these shirts that say: 'I've had my 715.' I know it's speaking in code, but it's speaking in code to 

Aboriginal people and it's endorsing these 715 health checks. When we started delivering medical services here in 

Bundaberg in 2007, there were only about three or four MBS 715 health checks across the whole Wide Bay 

region every year, and now there are about 3½ thousand. And they're really important, because they are early 

intervention but they're also managing chronic disease, and they are making people—right from babies through to 

elderly people—come back every year to have that health check, which is absolutely paramount if we're going to 

try and break the cycle of disadvantage and ill-health within our Aboriginal communities. Bear in mind—as I 

explained to Semele Moore—that we work in an area of high disadvantage; 82.6 per cent of our population is 

considered to be disadvantaged or very disadvantaged, according to the SEIFA index. 

Anyway, I spoke to my CEO and my GM, and I said: 'Look, this is ridiculous! We can't pay this. Apart from 

anything else, we're a charity; we need our money for frontline services.' So I sent a thing back saying: 'Thanks 

very much for the offer, but we refuse it. Send us the bill.' So they sent us the bill—and it was for $2,200 for the 

shirts we'd produced so far. And we paid it. We got some information that, apparently—and you've got the 

documentation there—there is a clause in the copyright— 

CHAIR:  Mrs Young, can I just step in for a moment, please? 

Mrs Young:  Yes. Sorry. 

CHAIR:  You are providing a great deal of information— 

Mrs Young:  Sorry. 

CHAIR:  No no—it is good, but can I just break it down a bit— 

Mrs Young:  Yes, of course. 

CHAIR:  because it is important for our committee inquiry to get more detail. Could I firstly ask: in terms of 

correspondence and documentation, are you able to table the correspondence between yourselves and the 

company, WAM, to this Senate inquiry? 

Mrs Young:  I have done so already; I sent it in a file yesterday—everything that we've got. 

CHAIR:  Thank you. And so, in terms of the time line: you actually contacted WAM first, before they initiated 

the correspondence? 

Mrs Young:  Yes. I contacted them. I wanted to basically make sure that we weren't exposed in any way to a 

fine or something like that. We tried to do the right thing. We work with integrity. We don't try to mess things 

around. 

What I would like to say, just to finish off the time line—this started in August, and then we got information 

that, in the copyright licence agreement between Harold Joseph Thomas and WAM Clothing, it said, '11.3: The 

licensee acknowledges that the design may be used by confirmed Aboriginal people for any non-profit purpose.' I 

thought: 'Great! We've got an exemption. It's written in the contract.' So I contacted them and sent them a letter 

saying, 'We would appreciate it if you would refund the $2,000 plus GST, paid by us,' and they hit us with a 

lawyer's letter. That was very unpleasant; I must be honest with you. They got very unpleasant about it. 

CHAIR:  Hence you no longer use the Aboriginal flag on any of your shirts. 

Mrs Young:  That's correct. Our staff are very upset about it, and they're very happy that we're here today. 

They designed that shirt, and it belongs to their mob. I just find it extraordinary that community organisations 

can't use the flag on an Aboriginal shirt. 
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CHAIR:  I'm going to go to the other senators for questions now, and I'll come back at the end of that. Senator 

Davey. 

Senator DAVEY:  Thank you, all, for appearing today. To Mrs Young and Mr Harathunian, I commend you 

on your efforts to encourage annual health checks, and I think the concept of giving a free T-shirt to people to 

promote health checks amongst communities is a really good initiative. I want to pick up on some of the time line 

as well. When your staff designed the T-shirt, you incorporated not only the Aboriginal flag but also the Torres 

Strait Islander flag. How long have you used those designs for? You said you were established 2007. Had you 

been using T-shirts since your establishment? 

Mrs Young:  No. I joined the organisation back in 2015. It came to my attention. In a nutshell: T-shirts work 

with Aboriginal people. They work with all people, but they really work with Aboriginal people. We designed a 

really great looking shirt. We have an artwork that shows our model of care. It was designed by an Aboriginal 

artist, and we use that for a lot of things. They designed the T-shirts using that model, which has songlines on it 

and all the language that people understand and respect, and the staff wanted the Aboriginal and Torres Strait 

Islander flags on there, to consolidate it. It's only for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people. We didn't bring 

the T-shirts in for quite a few years. I was able to get a little bit of funding, because we're a charity, to support the 

first rollout. We didn't really bring them in until late 2018 or early 2019, so it hasn't been a long-term thing. 

Thank goodness for that, otherwise we'd have had an even bigger bill. 

Senator DAVEY:  When WAM invoiced you for use, they didn't do it for a financial year; they backdated it to 

the commencement. Is that what you're saying? 

Mrs Young:  I gave them the invoices for the shirts I had ordered with the Aboriginal flag on them. So the 

ones I had ordered through a company, I gave them what we had paid. They could see what we had paid for them, 

and they charged us 20 per cent of that plus GST. 

Senator DAVEY:  When you got the T-shirt designed, what agreement did you reach with the designer of the 

whole T-shirt? You said a member of staff designed it. 

Mrs Young:  I designed it, really, so the agreement was with me. There's no need for an agreement with me. 

Basically, we all got together. I said, 'Guys, what do you want this T-shirt to look like?' I've got a graphics 

background, so I designed it up. I've designed T-shirts for other things—healing T-shirts and stuff like that. So I 

designed it, but I took the input from our Indigenous staff so that they had ownership of it. That's how we did it. 

Of course, our staff come from our communities. We employ directly from our communities. They go back in. 

They're bringing the voice of the people into those T-shirts. It's very important. 

Senator DAVEY:  So it's a collaboration, but it's owned by the IWC, not by an individual? 

Mrs Young:  Correct. 

Senator DAVEY:  I'm just trying to unpack things a bit here. 

Mrs Young:  That's fine. 

Senator DAVEY:  When designing it, did you seek permission from the Torres Strait Island Regional Council 

to reproduce their flag as well? 

Mrs Young:  I didn't even think about it, because everyone uses it. We use it all over the place. We use it on 

flyers. We have a lot of cultural events. Normally, we always put the Aboriginal flag and the Torres Strait 

Islander flag on there to bring people together. It's a unifier; that's been said before. Like most community 

organisations, we've produced posters with the flags on them. Every time we've run NAIDOC events, we've used 

the flags. We are very inclusive, so we do run both flags. We don't want Torres Strait Islander peoples to feel that 

they're not welcome, because they are; all Indigenous people are—and non-Indigenous as well, of course. But it's 

very much an inclusivity thing. So, no, we didn't even think about it. The flags are the flags. It's like the 

Australian flag. You put the Australian on things. It's the Australian flag. We put all three flags out the front. We 

run Australian, Torres Strait Islander and Aboriginal flags out the front. 

Senator DAVEY:  What made you aware of the copyright issue? I think it's indicative of your intention that 

you sought to ensure you were doing the right thing, by contacting WAM. But what made you aware of the 

copyright issue? 

Mrs Young:  Ara saw it in the paper. 

Mr Harathunian:  I saw in the paper that WAM had received copyright for the Aboriginal flag, and my 

LinkedIn participants also mentioned the copyright. Prior to that, I didn't know. I thought the Aboriginal flag was 

owned by the Aboriginal people and used freely, and it has been used freely right across. So when I saw the 

article and read about it in LinkedIn, I asked Janette Young to get in contact with WAM to find out when this 
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occurred and what happened to it. As an organisation, for our risk issues and our compliance, we don't want to be 

fined or in court down the track for some silly thing that we didn't comply with. So we just wanted to make sure 

that we were doing the right thing, ensuring that we had the right information. That's how we instigated it. They 

didn't send us a letter saying: 'We've noticed your T-shirts out there. Please pay us.' It was more us saying: 'We've 

heard there's a copyright. We'd like to be exempt. We are providing these T-shirts for free.' That was the 

communication, and the response was, 'No, you need to pay us.' It went from there. 

Senator DAVEY:  I want to turn to you now, Mr Graham. Does the Victorian Aboriginal Health Service 

[inaudible] produce T-shirts, brochures and other paraphernalia with the Aboriginal flag of them? 

Mr Graham:  Sorry, Senator; I got the T-shirts bit, but I missed the rest. I'm assuming you're asking whether 

there's anything else that we use it for. Every year we have the NAIDOC march and every year we make up T-

shirts, windcheaters and hoodies and we put the Aboriginal flag on them. We sell the T-shirts for $5, just to try 

and recoup a little bit of the money. The T-shirts are worth about $15, and we can't afford to keep paying out all 

that money. So we put the flag on those T-shirts. We also do the health-check shirts. More recently, probably over 

the last year-and-a-half, we've linked in with Deadly Choices. You get a health check and you get a shirt. It's got a 

local emblem on it, because we use local artists, and usually you would have the two flags on each of the 

shoulders. That's now stopped—the use of the flags. With the artist that we use, we have a contract that says we 

can use this art work for anything to do with health promotion and such, and that gets signed off. There are other, 

different activities we do. In the winter months we have scarves and beanies and things like that, and they're 

handed out to people who come in. For women, it might be for a Pap Smear test or something else. It's just to 

encourage people [inaudible] but it also promotes that they've come in and got their checks done. In the summer, 

we make up towels. We've done that for probably the last two years. That's more to do with our physical activity. 

You come in, you do physical activities, and after you've done a number in a row, you get this nice towel and you 

get other stuff. The towel has a big Aboriginal flag on it. Once again, people aren't paying for that, other than with 

their own time coming in. So now we have to rethink that.  

Last year we did the NAIDOC march without seeking permission. We'd never received anything asking for 

anything, so we went ahead and did it. Then, moving forward, my promotional health manager did get in touch 

with Harold, who spoke to him. I haven't got those emails on me now, but I will get them and I will send them 

through to the Senate. We had, pretty much, a similar experience to Ara's. At the start it sounded like it was going 

to be okay, and then it seemed as though maybe he'd spoken to WAM—I don't know; I'm just assuming now, so 

I'll stop. Basically, it came back and there was going to be a charge.  

We've used it for that many times. Those health-check shirts are also a really good example for our kids. Our 

kids see others walking around with the shirts and they go: 'Yep, they're one of us. They're part of our mob.' That 

kind of thing gets them excited. They start seeing the rest of the stuff on the shirts about health and looking after 

yourself, and so kids start to think, 'This is a good thing—that I have to look after my health.' We put it on posters 

and things like that, but we're not selling posters. We also use the colours within our logo as well. At one stage it 

was like, 'Are we stepping over the line by still having those colours within our logo?' It's almost set out the same 

way, but it's a different logo. We don't really sell anything that I can think of, other than those T-shirts for five 

bucks, which is really nothing. Part of the reason we sell them for five bucks is that a mob will come in and say, 

'Give me 30 of them,' and walk out! If we say it's five bucks they say, 'Alright, I'll just have one.' Look, we don't 

really sell it. We're a community controlled, non-profit organisation. We're not looking to make money off 

anything. If there is that $5, it goes straight back into  to our services, or covers some of the costs for those shirts. 

It's like all our non-profit organisations—it's not about making money; it's about looking after our people.  

Senator DAVEY:  Where do you get the T-shirts manufactured?  

Mr Harathunian:  We get them locally in Bundaberg from a manufacturer. We just do it that way, instead of 

going overseas.  

Mrs Young:  Can I just mention something quickly. When Michael emailed through and I had the 

conversation with Semele, I basically said, 'Look, this is what it is.' I expected them to say, 'Exemption.' I was 

very polite in the email, and said, 'If you could apply the discount.' I expected them to say, 'You can just have it'. 

We fight strongly for the voice of the Aboriginal people, especially around here—there were a lot of massacres in 

the mid-19th century and a lot of people were silenced. When they hit us with, 'We're still going to charge you 15 

per cent plus GST, but we want you to sign a confidential agreement,' that was really, really out of line and was 

just wrong. I'm sorry, it was wrong. It showed absolute disrespect for the Aboriginal community organisation, and 

I thought, 'You're out of line.' It was just rude. There you go. 

Senator DAVEY:  Mr Graham, where do you get your T-shirts manufactured? 
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Mr Graham:  They're Deadly Choices shirts, which are health-check shirts. I believe they get made within 

Australia. You'd probably have to check with IUIH about that, because we order through IUIH in south-east 

Queensland. The NAIDOC T-shirts—to be quite honest, I don't know exactly where they come from—do arrive 

to us pretty quickly, so I'm assuming it's local rather than overseas. But I couldn't tell you. 

Senator DAVEY:  In your opening statement, you said that the issue is dividing the community, which is a 

really unfortunate thing to hear when the flag has been a symbol of unity for Indigenous people for nearly 40 

years. What do you see as the biggest issue? Why do you say it's divisive? 

Mr Graham:  I got 'Why do you say it's divisive?' It's breaking up. I can't wait until the government fixes up 

the NBN, I tell you! What's happening is some people are getting so angry they're just saying, 'Stuff it, we'll just 

create a new one.' Others are saying, 'My family have been fighting under this flag as a united people since it first 

came to the embassy, because then it became more nationally recognised. So you've got two groups of people. I 

haven't heard a lot saying, 'Create a new one,' but it is out there. When I say that, it's probably more the social 

media stuff that you see, because, as you know, in Melbourne we're locked in our houses, basically. We don't get 

the chance to get out so we use the media, social media outlets, more than anything. There are people saying, 'No, 

it's been tainted.' There are people saying, 'No, my family fought hard for this.' There have been some really good 

discussions happening over the internet, but I think by the time the discussion's finished people are saying that 

they really would like to have the Aboriginal flag as it was and we can all move forward.  

Everybody pays respect to Harold Thomas, that he is an artist and this is his artwork, so there are no problems 

with that. He received copyright in the mid-1990s, I think it was. Since then, governments have recognised it as a 

flag to represent Aboriginal people. I think some of the problems have been that somewhere along the line it's 

been missed, the opportunity to say, 'Okay, let's make sure that Harold gets his dues, and the Aboriginal people 

can use it as their flag.' Whoever's responsible for that, it got missed. 

CHAIR:  Senators, I'd like to now take this opportunity to welcome to the panel Ms Gail Beck, who joins us 

from the Aboriginal Advisory Council of Western Australia. I'll give her the call for a few minutes. Ms Beck, 

you're welcome to make a statement to the committee.  

Ms Beck:  Thank you very much for the opportunity. I've been talking with my community for a while, ever 

since the others previous to me saw it in the newspaper. I'm going to share with you some of the comments, which 

you've probably already heard. People are very outraged that what was once a unifying flag is now about money 

and division, which has tarnished our national icon. That came up several times. I am very disappointed and angry 

that a for-profit, non-Aboriginal business now owns our flag and indeed, that they're tarnished through making a 

profit by misappropriating our art work. The flag was made precious by our people, so it belongs to the people. It 

was originally intended, in 1971, to be the first unification of our people. They said, 'Ownership must not be by 

the government, but maybe look at how the Torres Strait Islander flag can be used and/or set up a trust of some 

sort so Harold, and his family, can be recognised.' Then on the other hand, which I heard previously too, there are 

quite a large number of people who have decided to turn the flag upside down and are seeking to create a new one 

which the people will forever own. Also with us creating a new flag they see then that WAM will get nothing. 

They're very angry basically. That is about it. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Ms Beck. I will go to Senator Thorpe first. 

Senator THORPE:  Thank you, Chair. Thank you all for contributing. I'd like to ask the panel's views on how 

not being able to freely use the flag on T-shirts—encouraging people to get health checks at their Aboriginal 

medical service, for example—has impacted on community and how community engage and access your 

services? 

Ms Beck:  My community are really upset about the flag not being able to be on our shirts. But in saying that 

they are well aware that the service needs to be done and many people are creating new kinds of logos. They're 

sad about the flag not being able to be used freely but they're moving on. 

Mr Harathunian:  Same here. I think what's happened is since we were given the notification—we had 

spoken to the committee. They weren't happy, but they've come to an understanding that at the end of the day 

we've created these shirts without the Aboriginal flag or the Torres Strait Islander flag on them. They're utilising it 

because they know that health is important, so they pushed the health focus more and encouraged them to still 

access the services in that way. 

Mrs Young:  They don't want us to pay either. They made it very clear. They think we're completely correct in 

saying we won't pay royalties ongoing for the health check shirts. It would be wrong. We're a charity and a 

community organisation. We can't spend our money on that sort of thing. 
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Mr Graham:  In Melbourne we haven't had the opportunity to do as many health checks since COVID's hit us, 

so it probably hasn't had a huge effect on our health checks recently, because everything is telehealth and you 

can't do a proper health check over the phone. So it hasn't had a huge effect. We weren't able to do the NAIDOC 

march this year, so it hasn't had an effect on that. 

As things start to come back to normal—and you probably heard our cases are getting lower—we're already 

planning to do a huge campaign on health checks because we know people have been locked in their homes for so 

long and we're a bit worried about their chronic illnesses and their mental health, so we want to get as many 

people in the door as possible within the first 12 months. Those shirts play a big part in people coming in because 

people are proud to wear those shirts. As I said, it doesn't just affect the person who walks in the door and gets 

one; it also has an effect on the families, the children and even some of the grandmothers and grandfathers. They 

see the benefit of getting a health check and how that affects their grandchildren, so they will come in and have 

health checks done to show their grandchildren that that's what they should be doing. When it comes time to go 

back to what will be a new normal for us, we really need to have this sorted out for those times. 

If I could just add, the ownership of the flag was mentioned by a person on the phone—I can't remember her 

name, sorry. One thing I think our community wouldn't accept would be if government owned the rights to the 

flag. I think it would need to be some kind of community-controlled organisation or perhaps a trust or something 

like that. I don't think they would accept it being government owned and controlled. That's probably going to 

cause more issues than not. 

Senator THORPE:  Thank you, Mr Graham. That was going to be my next question. We've heard from so 

many witnesses and had so many submissions so far, and there are different views around where the flag should 

sit. Hypothetically speaking, would the panel be supportive of an Aboriginal community-controlled organisation 

owning the licence over the use of the flag, and how might this impact the work of not-for-profit organisations? 

Ms Beck:  I can't see if anyone has put their hand up or anything, so I'm just going to jump in. I think 

absolutely a community-owned organisation, but it would have to be set up really, really well so that this doesn't 

happen again. I'm not a legal person. I don't know how you'd do that under copyright. But it would be very sad if 

we were to go through this again when the money starts talking. That's my take on it. 

CHAIR:  Mr Graham? 

Mr Graham:  Yes, I would be of the same view, but I haven't given a whole lot of thought to who or how it 

would be set up. A trust can sometimes be good. You'd probably have to ask a number of other people as well, 

perhaps even NACCHO or something like that—and I should say that I sit on the NACCHO board, so I want to 

put that out there, but I'm just thinking of ideas as we're going along. It would definitely have to be a community-

controlled organisation, but there is always that thought about making a profit, and obviously the community-

controlled organisations aren't there for making profits. But selling it off to corporate and non-Aboriginal—I don't 

know how that would look, either. It probably needs a more business-minded, lawyer-type person to ask how that 

could look. 

CHAIR:  Mr Harathunian? 

Mr Harathunian:  We also agree with Mr Graham. We never really thought about who owns it down the track 

or what it would look like. We know that Aboriginal people fought for copyright for their own art and, we've seen 

a lot of their designs and their artwork being stolen and moved. My concern is that, whoever is controlling it, 

would have to be agreed by a majority of the Aboriginal people. At the moment, I'm quite happy if Harold owns 

it. The issue is the licensing and the copyright, because there are a few non-profit organisations who can create a 

non-profit organisation and sell the products with all these provisions. I think we've got to be careful about who 

has exemptions and who doesn't have exemptions in this copyright. Our concern is that it can be abused, and it 

has been abused. Our concern is basically ensuring that Harold is reimbursed and is given recognition but that we 

be able to provide these sorts of services with an exemption maybe, because we don't sell them; we give them out 

for free. 

Mrs Young:  I think what we are saying is that we don't have an issue with copyright. Obviously Harold 

Thomas holds copyright to his own design. As per the rules that apparently exist, we would like to see that the 

design may be used by confirmed Aboriginal people for any non-profit purpose. I think that's what we're coming 

down to. From listening to Michael, he's saying the same thing. We're doing it for the community. It is supporting 

the community. We understand people use the Aboriginal flag for commercial purposes, for souvenirs and all 

sorts of things. Yes, they absolutely should pay a royalty fee, but I think AMSs shouldn't be paying a royalty fee 

for health check shirts. 
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Senator THORPE:  I have one final question. It is another hypothetical. If the Australian government were to 

acquire the flag, what do you think the response would be from the Aboriginal community in this country? 

Ms Beck:  That may be a problem, because again so much is owned by the government. It seems that our 

heritage is owned, our country is owned and our people are owned because of all the different acts that are 

imposed upon us. If government are going to do that, they'd have to be very clear about how they're going to 

inform our community that it is actually for our betterment—it's protecting the flag but it's not real ownership. 

That's a sticky one.  

Mrs Young:  In our community people are custodians of knowledge. We do a lot of cultural healing work. We 

don't own that knowledge. We have to explain that to government all the time—'You can't take that IP, because it 

doesn't belong to us; it belongs to the community.' Custodianship is probably the approach that needs to be taken 

rather than ownership. Does that make sense? 

Ms Beck:  Absolutely. 

Senator THORPE:  Thanks. 

Senator LINES:  I'm coming to you all the way from Yindjibarndi country. I'm in the town of Roebourne. I'm 

just about to meet with a group of women from Roebourne. I particularly want to talk to Ms Beck. I thought it 

was important to hear from the Western Australian Aboriginal advisory committee because your organisation is a 

representative across the state. It's very hard for us to get evidence from a group that does represent the state. Ms 

Beck, I'm very interested in your opening comments, particularly about the outrage and how people are feeling 

angry. You were saying that in some instances people have moved on and are looking at a new design for a flag. 

We have heard that evidence before. I note that you're a proud Bunderan Bibulman Noongar woman from the 

South West. I'm wondering if you've heard those comments across the state or more particularly in your area. 

Ms Beck:  More particularly in my area—the Noongar people. The anger is over that the flag was created to 

unify us in 1975. There was no talk about anything else. Then it became our flag. People are affected because 

money is involved, but more so they're upset that a for-profit organisation now owns that. That's what they're 

more upset about. It's like a real slap in the face. The flag belongs to us. It feels like people are taking our stuff for 

their gain. That's what people are angry at. 

Senator LINES:  Ms Beck, are you aware of any organisations that have stopped producing products that 

would have ordinarily displayed the Aboriginal flag? 

Ms Beck:  Yes. Our health organisations are putting up their own logos now. 

Senator LINES:  So the AMSs across the state? 

Ms Beck:  Yes, because of fear of being fined. We've produced a shirt for emerging leadership. We wanted to 

put the flag on it, but we didn't. That's a bit sad. We've designed something that younger people can relate to. 

We've stayed away from the flag. 

Senator LINES:  So the South West health service has done that. What about other health services? 

Ms Beck:  I'm not too sure. I work in the native title space, and we don't use it. 

Senator LINES:  I think you said in your opening statement that you think the flag should be free for everyone 

to use rather than be available for profit. 

Ms Beck:  Absolutely. It should be free for Aboriginal organisations and people to use. The flag was initially 

created for us, not for other people to make profit off. We all absolutely accept that it belongs to Harold—we 

know that—but we were under the impression that it was gifted to us as the people. 

Senator LINES:  I note your very strong comments about so much is owned by government and there is 

legislation that impacts on you. The government have been involved in negotiations with Mr Thomas and others 

we understand for just over 12 months. If they can't come to an agreement, how do you think people would feel 

about the compulsory acquisition of the flag? People would be fairly compensated of course, but there would be 

compulsory acquisition. Do you have a view about that? 

Ms Beck:  My view about that is that would be the last resort. I would like to hear some really strong 

statements. Like the previous speaker said, it's about custodianship. Don't use the word 'ownership'. It makes 

sense to give it to a national ACCO, but clear messages need to be sent out as soon as possible to all communities 

about the reasons for doing it. There is quite substantial movement on forgetting about the current flag, which I 

find sad. I have the flag myself, which I've proudly protested with. Creating another flag also has a lot of hassles. 
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Senator LINES:  You said in your opening statement that you felt some people were moving on from using 

the flag. If we got to a state where we did get a settlement and the flag was able to be used freely in designs and 

so on in the future, do you think people would come back and accept that as their flag? 

Ms Beck:  I believe so because there's a long history of the fight and everything else with it. I think in the first 

instance people are really disgusted about how this came about. There is the feeling that they've sold us out. 

Senator LINES:  I think you've answered this already, Ms Beck. You have designed clothing for your 

organisation without the flag. Is that because you didn't want to pay the fee or because you couldn't afford to pay 

the fee to WAM Clothing? 

Ms Beck:  Couldn't afford and didn't want to, out of protest. There was no way we were going to pay a for-

profit non-Aboriginal business. 

Senator LINES:  Thank you very much, Ms Beck. I really appreciate you coming on. I felt it was important to 

have your voice here. They are all of my questions. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Senator Lines. I'm going to go to Senator Dodson. 

Senator DODSON:  Mr Graham, you mentioned earlier that there was a missed opportunity to have made 

things right at some stage in the past between the rights of Mr Thomas and enabling the flag to be freely available 

in the manner and custom it had become. Do you want to elaborate on that? Was there a moment in time when 

you think this could have been done? 

Mr Graham:  Yes. It's been a pretty busy week, so I spent a little bit of time this morning just doing a bit of 

research, and I saw the copyrights were given to Harold Thomas, I think it was in 1996 or 1997, something like 

that, and then there was a proclamation that was put together in 2001 or something like that, but it was never 

actually lodged. By the time that that little period where you need to put it in was up, it had lapsed. And it wasn't 

until I think 2008, when something was put in, that the flag was recognised as the Aboriginal flag of Australia. 

I could be wrong. Like I said, I did some quick research this morning. But if Harold Thomas had the rights in 

1997—or even if we go to 2008, the flag has been identified as a national flag for Aboriginal people, so, between 

then and now, knowing already that Harold Thomas owns the copyright, shouldn't these kinds of discussions have 

been happening back then rather than waiting until now, when all of a sudden we've got a non-Aboriginal 

corporation telling us when and when we can't use our own flag? Somewhere along the line there's been an 

opportunity missed. Like I said, that's just from quick research this morning. 

Senator DODSON:  Can I go to our witnesses in Bundaberg, I think it is? Mrs Young, I think you mentioned 

there was a clause in the contract that was offered to you by WAM Clothing, which had some exemption for not-

for-profit health organisations. Is that correct? 

Mrs Young:  Something came to our attention that, and I'll be frank, came out through the campaigners. We 

haven't been campaigners in this. We've had to set the record straight for our own people in this community as to 

why we couldn't use the flag, because otherwise they would just not understand, so, we went out and explained it 

to our local press. I wrote a letter that says, 'It has been brought to our attention that, under the copyright licence 

agreement between Harold Joseph Thomas and WAM Clothing, which commenced 23 November 2018, the 

following clause applies: 11.3, IWC acknowledges that the design may be used by confirmed Aboriginal people 

for any non-profit purpose.' And then I wrote on, 'As discussed verbally and in writing with you, IWC Ltd is an 

Aboriginal community-controlled organisation, a not-for-profit registered charity, and the AMS for the 

Bundaberg region.' And I clarified it again. Apparently it sits within the copyright licence agreement between 

Harold Thomas and WAM, and that has been acquired, I don't know how, but it's been acquired, and that 

information was provided to us. We put the question to them, and they responded quite vehemently and 

threatened legal action. 

Senator DODSON:  Did you have the option of getting your own legal interpretation of your rights under that 

clause? 

Mrs Young:  I must be honest with you, we were very dismayed by the whole exercise. I think we were all 

quite astonished. At the end of the day, we're a registered charity. We don't have a bottomless pit of money. These 

people seem to be run by lawyers. We paid out $2,200 and removed the flag. For us to then start to bring in 

lawyers, if would have cost money. 

At the end of the day, we hope that, by sharing the information into the community, the media picking up the 

story and us being here today with the Senate select committee—thank goodness—the government, the powers 

that be, the community organisations and the Aboriginal organisations at the highest level resolve the situation for 

the benefit of the communities at the grassroots, which is what we deal with. So, no, we didn't take legal advice, 
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because they hit us with a [inaudible]. We just backed away, and went, 'Okay, there'll be no flag on these shirts. 

You've made it quite clear that you have no interest in supporting the sort of work that we do.'  

Senator DODSON:  There are legal firms that are prepared to do pro bono work. 

Mrs Young:  Yes, I know. 

Senator DODSON:  But it does seem a pretty significant clause in the contract between Mr Thomas and 

WAM that is not being carried out, just on the face of this—without the detail. It's not being carried out in the 

spirit in which Mr Thomas had entered into this contract. 

Mrs Young:  Exactly. That, to me, is fairly straight up and down. Harold Thomas is not to blame here. I think 

that his intentions were sound and he didn't want Aboriginal people and non-profits to be penalised, but they are 

being penalised—and obviously we are not the only ones. We were quite surprised by the vehemence with which 

they came back at us. We're an organisation in Bundaberg, we have limited capacity and we're very busy. At the 

end of the day, we haven't got the resources to carry on a major fight at what in effect would be a national level. 

Senator DODSON:  I understand that, and I do appreciate the burden of work that you've got to deal with, let 

alone this sort of impost upon your time. You said earlier that you'd forwarded these documents to the inquiry. 

Does that include this particular contract? 

Mrs Young:  I haven't got the contract. I was provided with the information. A journalist at The Guardian 

newspaper who picked it up was very helpful, and she provided this information. When they came back to me, 

they said, 'You shouldn't have this documentation; we're going to come after you,' effectively. But I never 

received the actual contract. I did receive images of the pages, which were sent to me, but I didn't share that 

information with WAM. I just put the information—'This is the clause. Would you like to comply?' That was it, 

pretty much. 

Senator DODSON:  Have you provided that copy or replica of this clause to this committee? 

Mrs Young:  Yes, I've provided everything I've got to the committee. 

CHAIR:  Senator Dodson, can I just clarify for the Senate committee that the documents were received just 

prior to Mrs Young and Mr Harathunian appearing before us. So those documents have yet to be seen by the 

committee, even though they've only just been sent. So, just for clarification to our Bundaberg witnesses, we 

received the documents a little too late for senators to have seen it prior to you appearing here, but we do have the 

documents now. 

Mrs Young:  I sent them through yesterday afternoon. I hadn't realised that we you only just received them. 

Senator DODSON:  Madam Chair, can I just conclude by thanking them for sending them. At least we'll get a 

look at them. Thank you. 

CHAIR:  Senator Dodson, have you completed your questions? 

Senator DODSON:  Yes, thanks. 

CHAIR:  I would just add, in relation to the documents that have been sent to the committee, that the 

committee has not had an opportunity to meet separately to the inquiry to actually discuss the documents, Mrs 

Young. So it's not a case of your part; it's actually our part on that. I just wanted to clarify that for you.  

Ms Beck, I just wanted to refer to your opening statement, where you made reference to the Aboriginal flag 

and obvious upset that's been caused by the current situation. You said that, in some cases, the Aboriginal flag 

was being flown upside down. Would you care to expand on that information for the committee? 

Ms Beck:  There were a lot of people sort of saying, possibly not publicly, 'My flag in my home—and it's in 

my home too—'is flown upside down, as it's in distress.' So there are people who are doing it, possibly privately. I 

haven't seen one flying on a flagpole upside down. But certainly community members are doing that as a protest. 

CHAIR:  That's quite significant, isn't it, in terms of what that means? 

Ms Beck:  Yes. It just shows how upset people are—I get emotional about it—that it's all about profit now; it's 

not about the unification and the fights that we've had that unified us under this flag. That was the whole intent 

and purpose of the flag being created. 

CHAIR:  I have one final question for each of you, and I might start with our witnesses in Bundaberg first. 

With respect to advice to this inquiry and this committee on seeing a way through, what would you advise in 

terms of an outcome here that would be satisfactory to both Mr Thomas and First Nations people? 

Mrs Young:  In a nutshell, we very much espouse the concept of custodianship of the flag. We actually 

provide services to around 93 per cent of the Aboriginal population here. So we have a very good touch base with 

the grassroots. A lot of the younger ones, in particular, been saying, 'We should have a competition to design a 
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new flag.' I suppose what a lot of the elders are saying, 'Well, that's not actually really a resolution; that's really 

accepting defeat and allowing this to happen to us.' 

So, in relation to that clause that apparently is in the contract between Harold Thomas and WAM, given our 

focus on the community and the fact that it does matter to people and is a very important unifier for Aboriginal 

people and Torres Strait Islander peoples in our region, we would like to see the custodianship held, not 

ownership; that Harold will continue to own it; and that it will be custodianship for the Aboriginal nation, and 

people who are running not-for-profit organisations, which are Aboriginal community controlled, should be able 

to use it freely, with the intention of actually bringing the community together and improving the health and 

wellbeing of our communities. That's pretty much it. So we're not looking for a blanket thing. It's more that we 

need to think about custodianship rather than ownership. I think that's really what's upset so many people. The 

way that it's been done is really, really offensive to the Aboriginal people, and I think it's taken away their voice 

again. It's just so distressing for so many people. They get very upset. 

CHAIR:  Mr Harathunian, would you like to say some final words? 

Mr Harathunian:  Yes. Aboriginal people live in two worlds—one in the West, where these contracts, laws, 

and copyright stuff under the act are—and then, from a cultural perspective, their freedom in how they express 

themselves is being hindered now because of this copyright issue. I agree with what Janette said: set off some sort 

of custodianship where it is used and define exactly who can use it and how they can use it. That will clear up a 

lot of the issues. As I said before, my issue is that there are people out there utilising it for their own benefit as a 

business and generating money. If we can eliminate that and then allow Aboriginal people to use it freely without 

any detrimental effect on them, that would be the best thing to do. 

CHAIR:  Mr Graham, would you like to answer my questions, and then I'll go to Ms Beck. 

Mr Graham:  Yes, thanks, Senator. First I just wanted to apologise: I haven't been able to put in any 

submission or statement, but we've just been flat out here in Melbourne. But whilst we've been talking I've been 

talking with my promotional health manager, who did talk with Harold about us using the flag. I've actually got it 

here in writing from Harold himself, and he says: 'It was a pleasure speaking to you yesterday. The Aboriginal 

medical and legal services has always promoted and used the Aboriginal flag design from the beginning, and 

we're all grateful. Because of recent events, some individuals have been reckless to say the least. I suggest 

contacting WAM Clothing and say we have spoken. The issue will be amicable. I support you 100 per cent. Your 

friend, brother and member of a beautiful great race.' 

To which, my manager spoke to WAM through email explaining the situation. WAM then asked for a copy of 

the email from Harold, and we don't have much more from WAM in emails. But my manager has let me know 

that they did talk over the phone and he said it was a lengthy conversation. They apparently looked into VAHS's 

financial records online and said that, financially, we were viable to pay a fee and also that they could offer a 

discount but we would still have to pay. And that's when the manager brought it to me. This was last year. And 

I've refused to pay all along. So that's where that's at. 

In regard to moving forward, I would hate to think that the government would spend millions of dollars over 

this when, as Aboriginal medical services and health services, we're already struggling as it is. And to see huge 

amounts of money go towards the flag when we actually need that kind of money for service delivery on the 

ground—it would be a shame to see that happen. But, I think the bottom line is, nobody's doubting that Harold 

Thomas has ownership of the flag and copyright ownership. We just want to use it. We just want to keep our 

people united. We don't want to have to go through the hassles of getting permissions every time we want to use 

it. And we're not trying to make money out of it, we're actually using it to create healthier spaces for our people. 

That's all we want. That's what I'm hearing. I sit as the chair of the Victorian Aboriginal Community Controlled 

Health Organisation as well, and I'm hearing the same thing from all of our members in Victoria, and I haven't 

heard anything different sitting on the NACCHO board either. I think that's about it, really. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Mr Graham. Could I just ask you two questions on notice. Are you able to table the 

document in terms of the correspondence with Mr Thomas? 

Mr Graham:  Yes, I am. 

CHAIR:  Are you also able to provide the committee, in writing, the time line and the name of your manager, 

in terms of that dialogue that took place over the phone with WAM? 

Mr Graham:  Not a problem. 

CHAIR:  That will be due by 30 September. 

Mr Graham:  I was just going to say: give me a couple of days. 
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CHAIR:  No worries. Ms Beck, can I just go to you for any last words in relation to my question. 

Ms Beck:  Yes, we all are well aware that Mr Thomas has the ownership. If we can get our flag back, in the 

community's custodianship or something, so that we can use it, that would be pretty awesome. If government are 

going to assist us in doing that, just be careful in the language, and use 'custodianship'. And I agree with everyone 

else that has spoken before me. I'm really passionate about the flag. I'd hate to see it changed, and I hear that from 

the young people as well: that this flag belongs to us all. I'd like us to keep it, and, maybe, for Mr Thomas, he can 

get the royalties from those that want to use it for profit. 

CHAIR:  Can I say a very big thank you: to you, Mr Harathunian and Ms Young, in Bundaberg; to you, Mr 

Graham, in Melbourne; and to you, Ms Beck, in Perth. Thank you so much for giving your time and evidence to 

our Senate inquiry today. 

Proceedings suspended from 13:05 to 15:18 
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MANNING BANCROFT, Mr Jack, Chief Executive Officer, AIME Mentoring 

TELFORD, Ms Amelia, National Director, Seed Indigenous Youth Climate Network 

WRIGHT, Mr Paul, National Director, Australians for Native Title and Reconciliation 

Evidence was taken via teleconference— 

CHAIR:  Welcome. Thank you for taking the time to give evidence today. Information about parliamentary 

privilege has been provided to you and is available from the secretariat. I invite you to provide an opening 

statement to the committee if you wish. Ms Telford, I'll go to you first. 

Ms Telford:  I've prepared an opening statement and am happy to speak to this further. I'm a proud Bundjalung 

and South Sea Islander woman and have the absolute privilege of being the National Director of the Seed 

Indigenous Youth Climate Network, or Seed Mob, as some people may know us as. For the purposes of the 

inquiry I wanted to share with you why the Aboriginal flag is not only important to Seed but to me as an 

Aboriginal woman and to our communities across the country. 

As a young Aboriginal girl growing up, for as long as I can remember, the Aboriginal flag has always been a 

symbol of who we are as Aboriginal people, whether it's the flag hung up in my brother's room, which I'm in right 

now at home; learning about what the colours meant from my dad; or seeing Cathy Freeman wearing it proudly 

over her shoulders at the 1994 Olympics—seeing videos of that, because I was born that year—wearing it like a 

cape over her shoulders as if her ancestors were giving her a massive hug, keeping her grounded and connected to 

who she was and to her community who were at home cheering her on. I've always loved the flag, and it's always 

been a symbol of who we are as well as our struggle and our resilience. 

When it was brought to our attention and my attention that WAM was serving Aboriginal organisations with 

cease and desist letters and exorbitant amounts to use it, it just felt incredibly wrong. So it was on 16 October 

2019 that we at Seed were sent an email stating that we needed to enter into an agreement with WAM that 

included fees if we wanted to continue to use the Aboriginal flag on our digital and physical media. 

Seed is a branch of the Australian Youth Climate Coalition. We're led by Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 

young people all across the country working together to protect our land, water, culture and communities from the 

causes and impacts of climate change. Everything that we do is following in the footsteps of those who have gone 

before us fighting for justice for our people. Like so many Aboriginal organisations and community groups across 

the country, Seed have always used the flag in our print, online and digital media for the purposes of education 

and protest as well as celebrating and identifying who we are. To continue using the flag on our website, 

signatures, social media graphics, information flyers, posters, stickers, banners and annual plans—the list goes 

on—we were told that we would not only have to enter into agreement with WAM with an annual fee but would 

also need to speak to GiftsMate and Flagworld. To us this just didn't seem right, so we have not entered into any 

agreements. The Aboriginal flag belongs to Aboriginal people, not to companies making money from our 

communities. We strongly believe that. 

For our work at Seed and Aboriginal communities across the country, we ask that the inquiry free the 

Aboriginal flag from its current licensing agreement and see that Aboriginal people have equal rights and access 

to the flag. Thank you. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Ms Telford. We'll come to questions in a moment, but I'll go to Mr Manning Bancroft 

should he wish to provide a statement and then go to Mr Wright. 

Mr Manning Bancroft:  I'm on Bundjalung country at the moment in my mum's studio, so I am more than 

happy to acknowledge country where I am right now. I think part of this is the design challenge. Mum was one of 

the leads with copyright, pushing for copyright for Aboriginal artists. She pushed that significantly in the 80s, so I 

see the point of view of Harold wanting to have his artwork and having the copyright and the respect around his 

artwork and that creation to be somehow protected. So I think that design challenge makes sense. Then there are 

the parts that Amelia spoke to. It just feels a bit off for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander organisations and 

people who are looking to positively advance Aboriginal progress. When you're doing that work, the flag is such a 

strong symbol. To get stung with a licence fee doesn't quite check out. We sketched a couple of thoughts and 

offerings. 

One was that there's a licence available for free for organisations registered through the CATSI Act and 

potentially for Indigenous organisations at large or people who can prove that they benefit the work of Aboriginal 

people. Potentially it might extend to all First Nations people in that process. On the second point: I don't mind 

that there's a little bit of a pendulum swing to mainstream organisations; I think it's an opportunity to challenge 

some of the mainstream organisations if they do use the Aboriginal flag or want to use the Aboriginal flag. It says, 
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'Okay, what are you going to be doing with this?' I don't think the fashion groups being able to put an Aboriginal 

flag on a pair of swimmers, for example, or something else that they then go and make profits from necessarily 

advances the progress of Aboriginal people. I think that's a grey zone where it's worth thinking about the design 

frame around it. 

The other offering that we have is that there might be something around Australia Day, 26 January, Survival 

Day, to look at what a fusion or a story of flags means. I'm wearing a shirt that a youngster named Lily Trambie 

designed as a year 2. The teacher sent it over to us. I think she was seven at the time, a non-Indigenous kid, and 

this was her vision of what Australia could look like. So I think there could be an opportunity, through a 

storytelling piece more broadly, to move us to think collectively and creatively. It wouldn't have to be tied to 

saying, 'That's now the Australian flag,' but I think it could be an opportunity to engage schools in a dialogue 

around this. 

I see the complexity in the design. I think the pendulum has probably swung a bit too far, and it would be great 

for Indigenous organisations and groups that are working really hard to advance Aboriginal and Torres Strait 

Islander people, specifically Aboriginal people, in this lens to have a licence for free. For us, I probably think it's 

okay if we have to justify it a little bit, without it being too extreme but just to say, 'Hey, if we make this shirt it's 

going to go towards what we're trying to do'—a really simple, top-level piece without too much red tape. That's 

our read on where we're at.  

CHAIR:  Thank you. Mr Wright, are you able to hear me? We're still unable to hear you. We may have to get 

you to connect via teleconference. The secretariat will contact you with details for that. I'll go to questions. 

Senator Dodson, you have the call. 

Senator DODSON:  Thank you, Madam Chair. This question is to all the witnesses. Have you heard of the 

concept of a First Nations public domain? If you have, what do you understand it to mean? 

Mr Manning Bancroft:  I haven't heard of it. 

Ms Telford:  I have not heard of it either. 

Senator DODSON:  Alright. Well, we've had a lot of people put evidence to this committee to say the flag 

belongs to the Aboriginal people. Can you tell me how it does belong to the Aboriginal people? 

Mr Manning Bancroft:  I'd say probably it belongs in part to the original artist, and it's become a symbol that 

unifies a significant group of people, which is people who identify as being Aboriginal and who are connected to 

their different Aboriginal nations. I think that's been the intent behind the design of the flag—to have a symbol 

that can unify a sense of a collective Aboriginal [inaudible]. 

Ms Telford:  I agree and, building on what Jack has said, I think the value of the flag, which has been built 

over generations, has really been built from and by the Aboriginal community. I agree that it's really tricky when 

it comes to the rights of the artist but also the rights of our communities. It's even the colours of the flag in itself. 

In the echidna quill earrings that I have, having red, yellow and black, the colours are the meaning of what that 

unifies for our people right across the country. We all know that it can be challenging at times to have something 

that does imply our people, but the flag is one of those things. Whether it's marching on Invasion Day or in a 

NAIDOC march or for justice for whoever it was who may have been killed in police custody, it's seeing the flag 

all over the country. When I was younger, when I first got the ability to travel in the work that I do around climate 

change, I was able to go to Antarctica. I took a flag with me in a similar way to what Cathy Freeman did with the 

flag at the Olympics. That was my ability to say, 'I'm very far away from home, but this is my connection to who I 

am as an Aboriginal person. I want everyone around the world to know that.' It's about a sense of identity and 

community. There's the widespread use across the whole country. I believe that the flag does belong to Aboriginal 

people because we are the ones who gave it the value that it has had over so many years. 

Senator DODSON:  Maybe this goes to you, Ms Telford. I think you mentioned that there was some 

correspondence from WAM to your organisation. Was that a cease-and-desist notice to stop you from using the 

flag? 

Ms Telford:  It didn't use the words 'cease and desist', but, through further correspondence, they did end up 

giving us three days to take action and implied that, to continue using the flag, we would need to enter into an 

agreement. We had quite a bit of back and forth, asking them to specify the exact uses and clarify how the fees 

would be applied on email signatures, on business cards, on a website. Eventually, after a bit of back and forth, 

we didn't enter into the agreement because we felt really confused and conflicted. It's hard to know what to do in 

this situation. We don't feel right about entering into an agreement with a non-Aboriginal company that is 

profiting from this. We would actually prefer to be able to have a conversation with the artist himself, but that is 
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proving to be quite challenging. As long as I've been aware, the flag was always free for use for Aboriginal 

people, especially in the form of education, protest and pride. 

Senator DODSON:  In your toing and froing with WAM, did you ever ask to see a copy of the agreement 

between Mr Thomas and them? 

Ms Telford:  We have a copy of the licence. Yes; we asked for that and they sent that through to us. The 

majority of the products that we have that use the flag are online, in our social media and on our website. We're a 

non-profit organisation. We haven't financially profited from the use of the flag at all, but we could be interested 

in using the flag on our merchandise. We have a hoodie, for example, that has the outline of Australia and the 

image of the flag and it says 'Protect country'. That's something we printed and we've given out large numbers of 

those to community members. We've never charged a fee for it. At some point, we could be interested in being 

able to sell those, not for profit but as a way of giving back to the work that we do. We're in the position where we 

don't quite know what to do and want to be guided by community. Yes, we have a copy of that licence. 

CHAIR:  Senator Dodson, could I step in for a moment? Ms Telford, would you care to table that document to 

this Senate inquiry? 

Ms Telford:  Absolutely. 

CHAIR:  Thank you. 

Senator DODSON:  Ms Telford, is the document that you have the document that relates to the agreement 

between Mr Harold Thomas and WAM or is it a pro forma document that WAM issues to potential consumers of 

their product? 

Ms Telford:  I believe that it is the agreement. It's titled Harold Thomas and WAM Clothing media agreement. 

It says it's a copyright exclusive licence agreement. I can send that through. 

Senator DODSON:  Okay. Thank you very much. No further questions. 

CHAIR:  I would like to check if Mr Wright is online and able to speak to us and give us a statement. 

Mr Wright:  Can you hear me now? 

CHAIR:  Yes. Absolutely. Go for it. 

Mr Wright:  I could hear you guys loud and clear, but for whatever reason my mic wasn't working. On 

indulgence, Chair, I might read our prepared statement, if that's okay. 

CHAIR:  Go ahead. 

Mr Wright:  Firstly, thank you for this opportunity to speak to the Senate select committee. I begin by 

acknowledging that I'm videoconferencing into this hearing from the land of the Gadigal people of the Eora 

nation. I pay my respects to elders past and present and I acknowledge the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 

peoples appearing with me on the panel, Amelia and Jack, and the First Nations senators on this committee: you, 

Chair, Senator McCarthy; Senator Dodson; and Senator Thorpe. 

ANTaR is a national advocacy organisation working for justice, rights and respect for Australia's First Peoples. 

We do this primarily through campaigns, advocacy and lobbying work. We've been working with Aboriginal and 

Torres Strait Islander communities, organisations and leaders on rights and reconciliation issues since 1997. 

ANTaR is a foundational member of the Close the Gap campaign, the Change the Record campaign and the 

Redfern Statement alliance, we're a core organisational member of Just Reinvest NSW and Rheumatic Heart 

Disease of Australia, and we've been doing a lot of work over the last couple of years trying to elevate the treaty 

conversation across Australia. Our board is made up of both Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander and non-

Indigenous members, and we have thousands of supporters and members across Australia, mostly non-Indigenous 

Australians, who are dedicated to creating a country that is reconciled with its First Peoples. 

As a mainstream advocacy organisation, although we're solely created to advocate for the justice, rights and 

respect of First Nations peoples, we don't suppose to speak for First Nations peoples on the issue of the flag today. 

We have always sought to support the self-determined priorities of the many Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 

leaders and organisations we've worked with and supported over the years. As evidenced by the need for this very 

committee and your deliberations on the future of the Aboriginal flag, the flag has become an important symbol 

for both First Nations peoples, as Amelia and Jack have already described, and also non-Indigenous Australians 

over the last five decades. Using the image of the flag has been central in our campaigning and advocacy work, 

and its use symbolises our solidarity with Aboriginal peoples across Australia. We note and support the growing 

campaigns to have the Aboriginal flag raised permanently and prominently in places like Sydney Harbour Bridge 

and, while not directly relevant to the copyright issue currently at play, these campaigns are indicative of the 

broad public support and respect for and recognition of the Aboriginal flag as an important symbol of our nation. 
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The flag has become shorthand for Aboriginal self-determination and a modern-day marker of the 60,000 years 

of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander occupation of this continent. Over the last five decades, the iconic black, 

yellow and red image has become ubiquitous and is recognised around the world. It is a great legacy to Harold 

Thomas and to Aboriginal people across Australia. 

In regard to the terms of reference guiding this committee, ANTaR offers the following three quick 

observations. Firstly, we support Harold Thomas being recognised as the rightful designer of the flag, with the 

financial benefit. This recognition, already given by the High Court and in copyright and subsequent financial 

benefit, should also allow for the right of Aboriginal organisations, Aboriginal communities and the broader 

Australian community to freely use the flag. To this end, to respect Mr Thomas's copyright, we support a 

negotiated outcome that acknowledges the place the flag holds in Australia today. Secondly, we propose that the 

flag have the accompanying protocols that the national flag has and that those protocols be informed by Mr 

Thomas and others within senior First Nations leadership. And while already made an official Australian flag, the 

Aboriginal flag should be specified in the Flags Act, and the act should include the free right and privilege to use 

the flag, subject to respecting those protocols that we suggested. And the act should be amended to include 

specific clauses for the free use and recognition of the Aboriginal flag closer to the status of the Australian flag. 

As the Senate select committee has no doubt already heard, the copyright or licensing restrictions on the use of 

the flag on garments can negatively impact community and advocacy organisations in their work promoting First 

Nations priorities in things like health, justice, education, employment and many other areas we're involved in. 

Often the flag's image is used in promotional material—Amelia was talking about that earlier—including 

clothing, to denote that the cause or issue or message is directly relevant to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 

peoples. Any charge for such material is usually on a cost-recovery basis and not intended to be a commercial 

pursuit. We note that copyright does not allow for fair usage and does not restrict non-commercial purposes, but 

this could become an unnecessary grey area for many organisations and people. 

In relation to commercial use of the image, ANTaR used to sell Aboriginal badges and pins produced under 

licence by the now liquidated company Birubi Art. We ceased selling these items as a fundraising opportunity for 

our non-profit charitable organisation once it came to light that this company had been falsely claiming its 

products as genuine Aboriginal artworks. That's all on the public record. We can appreciate the feeling among 

many Aboriginal people and organisations that the licensing for commercial use of the Aboriginal flag image to a 

non-Indigenous company that then undermines that image can be distressing and highly frustrating.  

ANTaR believes that the free respectful use of the flag should be a vehicle for the government's stated support 

for a truth-telling process, thinking about these comments on the Uluru Statement from the Heart and its call for 

truth-telling. This committee has an opportunity to use this inquiry to further elevate the flag in its already high 

public esteem by making this a broader consideration of where we are as a nation in regard to our relationship 

with First Nations peoples of this continent. Rather than having a conversation of profit, the flag should be a focal 

point of truth-telling that acknowledges the many millennia prior to European colonisation, our shared history 

since 1788 and also what a reconciled Australia might look like going forward with a flag that symbolises that 

journey. 

In closing, I'd say again that the Aboriginal flag is a symbol of Aboriginal strength and pride. It leads to a 

greater exposure and recognition of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander issues and is regularly used by non-

Indigenous people to express their support and solidarity with their First Nations sisters and brothers in a quiet 

and effective way. Thank you very much. 

Senator O'SULLIVAN:  I might direct my questions to Mr Manning Bancroft. Jack, it's good to see you, 

mate. I always continue to be a big fan of the work you do in AIME across Australia. Jack, with your connection 

to the Indigenous artist community—I guess primarily through your mum but possibly others as well—how 

important is it to respect the copyright and the ownership of that artwork and that intellectual property? 

Mr Manning Bancroft:  I think that's the complexity of the design piece. If it was a flag created by an 

Australian government employee as part of a project to set up a flag, having an artist whose artwork is 

independent and then has become this national symbol—this is a much smaller example of that. We've sold 800 

of these shirts, and I don't think Lily Tranby, as a year 2 kid, thought a design that she sketched was suddenly 

going to become a symbol. So, there's definitely a lot more intent with the flag design to see where we've got to 

with it. 

I think with this one, everyone has spoken to it. It's working out how you get the bridge across copyright, 

across the protection and respect of the artist's integrity and then the national interest, which is now potentially 

even beyond where the design might have been—what might have happened five decades ago. It's been and 

become a really significant national and global symbol to represent Aboriginal people. It's totally important when 
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artists create work to respect it and to have copyright that protects that—and then in this instance to build that 

bridge to the national interest and the progress of Aboriginal people is why we're all here. 

Senator O'SULLIVAN:  We've heard already that the National Indigenous Australians Agency is engaging 

with Mr Thomas in negotiating an outcome that would be very well received across the community. In that 

discussion, how important is it that we, as the Australian government, really respect the wishes and desires of Mr 

Thomas in negotiating an outcome, and how should that negotiation happen? What sorts of parameters should be 

kept to ensure that his wishes and his respect, his desire out of the outcomes are maintained? 

Mr Manning Bancroft:  Good question. There are definitely people who are much more adept and have much 

more experience in copyright law and copyright negotiations with artists in Australia than me, so I'll politely leave 

that one a little bit, because—apart from what I've already said, which is engaging, as the process is doing, and 

trying to respect the artists integrity—symbols are seriously important, and this one has become a monster. It's a 

huge symbol and it was a massive kick in the guts—we got the note as well that Amelia got and her organisation 

got. It was like you'd had the rug pulled out from underneath you. This is one of the things that we have which has 

got strength all through it. It is a fierce, powerful, strong symbol, and when you wear it or when people are 

wearing it you're like: 'Yeah, okay, there's power here.' That's one of the challenges that we're trying fight for, to 

work out how to rebalance power and to have agency when there's been so much continual removal of that power 

through different challenges over time. 

I'd say it's weighing the responsibility and respect of the artist as, I think, everybody's done, with the latest 

pendulum swing to pausing, and then really lifting up and making sure that we allow one of the few and 

significant national symbols of power and pride to be able to be worn as freely and as proudly as possible by as 

many Aboriginal, and if Torres Strait Islander people want to wear it and if broader Australians want to connect 

with this symbol that's a [inaudible] for us, but significantly, it has a huge, symbolic act of building power and 

building a uniform that people can feel and strengthen themselves around. So making sure that both of those are 

fiercely concerned and fiercely protected—I don't think it's one without the other. Do the artist's copyright stuff 

and don't look after the national symbolism and the banner that this flag has become would fail. 

Senator O'SULLIVAN:  Mr Manning Bancroft, I heard you give a speech some time ago, in which you said, 

if I can remember it, the line, 'To be Aboriginal is to be proud,' or words to that effect. Your organisation is 

famous for producing merchandise. I think your hoodies are almost world famous. How important is to be able to 

use the artwork on your merchandise, and what does it do to building that pride in the community? 

You're reaching out to young people starting an education journey, and supporting them and inspiring them to 

have high aspirations. So how important is the use of the Aboriginal flag artwork on your merchandise? 

Mr Manning Bancroft:  Again, I will say I have a pretty limited world view, especially considering the 

expertise and knowledge on this call. But my viewpoint, from what I've learnt, is that, for close for 170 years, 

there were significant efforts to tell a story that made Aboriginal people feel unworthy in this country. What we 

try and do with our work is, day in, day out, rewrite that narrative and create a space for self-authorship, a space 

for true empowerment, a space for the ingenuity of 60,000 years to be the constant story and hopefully that the 

150 to 200 years is a blip of significant challenges, from colonisation all the way through to the significant 

policies that have affected negatively the outcomes of Aboriginal people in this country.  

I think what the flag allows us to do is to tell a story of strength, because it's been part of the upward curve of 

which, again, many people in this call have led so many of the changes in the last 50 years—that's seen the Tent 

Embassy, that's seen Mabo, that's seen us walk across a bridge together, that's seen Cathy, that's seen an apology, 

that's seen us start to see generations of university students suddenly line up, that's seen us start to close the gap in 

medical Indigenous students graduating on parity with non-indigenous students. With this period of change in the 

last 50 years, we're on a momentum up, and the flag is central to that. The flag has been about the story of an 

uplift, of a reworking, of a rewriting of a painful past. For us, how we clothe ourselves, how we tell stories—you 

can make films, you can write, but we want to use every possible device we can to try and unravel so much of that 

trauma and that pain and that hurt of a couple of hundred years and try and give the freedom and truly emancipate 

kids' minds to have the space and strength to see their worth and hopefully be able to have that worth as a base to 

go on and take on the world and do anything they want to do. 

Senator O'SULLIVAN:  If the chair will allow me, I just have a couple more questions— 

CHAIR:  Just one more question, Senator O'Sullivan, then I will go to Senator Thorpe. 

Senator O'SULLIVAN:  Sure. I will open this to the other witnesses as well. What's the end state that you're 

looking for? If the copyright or the availability of using the artwork were in the public domain, that could mean 

that basically anyone could pick it up and reproduce it, including organisations that are maybe just in it to make 
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some profit as opposed to those that are wanting to advance the cause for Indigenous people. You could have 

potentially international companies printing it and selling it back into Australia. So would you want to see some 

parameters around the use of the flag and the use of the artwork in merchandise and souvenirs, that sort of thing? 

CHAIR:  Who is your question to? 

Senator O'SULLIVAN:  I am happy for it to be to anyone, but maybe starting with Mr Wright. 

Mr Wright:  Again, bit like Jack, without being a copyright expert—and it was partly in that statement—we 

would back in whatever the consensus view of First Nations people is about how to manage access once it's free 

to be used in Australia, then how it's managed beyond that. I guess it comes down to specifying in those protocols 

that are then determined by Aboriginal people, and we would support that. But it's about shifting the emphasis for 

me. If international people are using and recognising and looking at the flag, well, what does the flag speak to 

them about? I think there's an opportunity there that we can be using this conversation as a truth-telling 

conversation. Often we pay attention when international observers are pointing out or asking questions about our 

state of affairs or our history, and I think the flag is an obvious way of prompting those questions and then 

prompting the conversation that I think we need to be having here more and more. That's probably not answering 

your specific question about how widely it could be used and what the commercial ramifications would be, and 

the potential for it to be used inappropriately. But, again, going back to self-determination, we've got to ask 

Aboriginal peoples how they want it used. At the moment the issue is they can't use it, so we need to address that 

first. That would be my answer. 

Senator O'SULLIVAN:  Okay. Ms Telford, did you have anything to add? 

Ms Telford:  Yes. It's worth noting the reality at the moment of WAM and Flagworld and the other companies 

that have licences, so non-Indigenous companies profiting from the flag, and how we are dealing with this right 

now. It's a current issue and it could continue to get worse. There are lots of different pathways it could go down. 

For us, it's about our people being able to use the flag freely, in whatever way we do that. And like I said, I always 

had the sense that the flag could be used, especially in the form of education and protest. I think that needs to be 

the case. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Ms Telford. Thank you, Senator O'Sullivan. Senator Thorpe, you have the call. 

Senator THORPE:  Thank you everyone for participating today. There are some familiar faces there, and it's 

good to see you. I'm hearing loud and clear from many, many witnesses, and particularly Aboriginal witnesses, 

the meaning of the flag and what it means to people. I just want to cut to the chase and ask the question about 

what your thoughts are on the Australian government, in particular, acquiring the licences for the use of the 

Aboriginal flag? 

Ms Telford:  I honestly feel really unsure about so much of this, and I think that's why this is such a challenge. 

Even to know how to continue using the flag or the 'free the flag' symbol—I'm wearing one of the [inaudible] gap 

shirts at the moment. It is a really big question, who does have this control. The question that you raise, Senator 

Thorpe, brings about a bigger question, one of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people having self-

determination and the ability to make decisions about issues that impact us. It's actually quite hard to answer that 

without thinking of the bigger issues that our people are facing. In addressing it, we could look at that in a more 

holistic approach, but for the sake of this—what I have looked to is how other flags are governed and used and 

what rights communities and citizens have to use those flags. I think we can start there, in learning from that, but 

it would be silly to not also think about it in the bigger picture context. 

Mr Manning Bancroft:  I think it would be good if the Australian government took it on. I'd love to see a 

licence provided for five or 10 years for Aboriginal organisations and people who are working to positively 

advance the lot of Aboriginal people in Australia that gives a free licence for use of the flag. And I do think that 

it's a really interesting opportunity to be able to challenge and protect against people who are not Indigenous 

taking the flag and using it for pure profit. That just feels so awkward and uncomfortable. If the Australian 

government did take it on, they could find the complexity in the design of this and then go: 'Right. Well, 

Aboriginal people, Aboriginal flag: that seems to have a reasonably solid logic thread. Non-Indigenous people 

taking an Aboriginal flag and selling to it make money? That doesn't quite check out to me.' I would love to see 

something designed around that, which, in the long run, may end up flipping the dialogue so in 10 years time 

organisations, like WAM, would be applying to the Australian government to say, 'Hey, this is what we're going 

to do to make progress.'  

A reconciliation action plan is a good example of how that's being utilised, as a way organisations going for 

tender or different things show what they're doing to create progress. I'd love to see a lever to push people in the 
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mainstream, to go, 'If you want to utilise this, how are you going to do something that creates change and not just 

use it for profit, because that feels a bit crook?' 

Mr Wright:  I don't really have much to add to what Amelia and Jack have said. Reading between the lines of 

your question, I can certainly see the perception and probably the reality of a government acquiring the copyright 

off the Aboriginal artist and holding it in government hands, when it's really about a broader Aboriginal 

ownership and that's what, ultimately, needs to be the outcome in its free and proper use. I think that's been 

covered by Jack and Amelia. If the government were to acquire the copyright, it should still be free for Aboriginal 

people to determine how it's used and enacted. It should be a government decision beyond holding it 'on behalf 

of', if that makes sense. 

Senator THORPE:  Hypothetically speaking, would the panel be supportive of an Aboriginal community 

controlled organisation owning the licence over the use of the flag, and how might this impact the work of not-

for-profit and social-change organisations? 

Mr Manning Bancroft:  For sure, if someone could do it and manage all the politics of being in the middle of 

all of that. If there was someone who could put a really strong case forward, and that opened up, and they had the 

infrastructure to handle all the different challenges, all the different licensing conversations, then absolutely, yes. 

If there's a group that wants to take that on, I think that could be a really fascinating solution. If you want to go 

more lateral, they're looking at that third chamber in parliament and it being one of the key devices that we get to 

protect. There could be a passageway through that.  

I think, yes, in principle. If it's not achieved in the short term that could be an objective, that the government, 

potentially, take it on for X amount of years. We're hoping that in 10 years time this will be handed back to an 

Aboriginal organisation or a set of Aboriginal organisations or when we establish a third chamber of parliament, 

of whatever the ramifications are, of where we get to eventually having a strong, consistent voice in parliament. 

That might be a way you could kill multiple birds with many stones—or whatever the phrase is. I've had my two-

year-old daughter all day today so I'm surprised that any words are coming out of my mouth that make any 

borderline sense! Anyway, back to someone else. 

Ms Telford:  I can't not answer in a way that doesn't look at the bigger picture issues here. We're living in a 

time, and have been for a while, of a lot of deficit discourse around our people. I think it's partly why we are being 

controlled in so many ways. We're not being able to take ownership and control over our own affairs, because 

there's a sense that we can't do it. There are so many examples of organisations out there where our people are in 

leadership positions and taking control of their own matters. That's where the best solutions come from. So that 

could be, definitely, a hypothetical option.  

I think we really do need to shift the narrative and look at the strength that our communities have and take a 

more strength based approach. If that were an option, that could lead to some really incredible outcomes and 

solutions. I think it speaks to what Jack was referring to as well, in terms of the opportunities that are ahead of us. 

At the moment we're having to fight with one another and fight with the non-Aboriginal company. It doesn't seem 

right. It's taking away from our ability to address the big issues that are going on in our communities. I wish I 

didn't have to be presenting to this panel now and could be addressing other issues that our people are facing. 

Senator THORPE:  Mr Wright, did you want to comment? 

Mr Wright:  No, I have nothing to add. That's good. 

Senator THORPE:  Thank you. I have no further questions, Chair.  

CHAIR:  Thank you, Senator Thorpe. In the short time we have left, I might do a couple of things. Firstly, Mr 

Manning Bancroft, you mentioned that you did receive a letter from WAM. I'm wondering whether you are able 

to table that letter for us, if that was correspondence in relation to the use of the Aboriginal flag. Is that what you 

were referring to when you made your comment? 

Mr Manning Bancroft:  I will go back to our clothing guys and see what the specific stuff that we got that 

was sent through was, and, if there's any correspondence there, we'd be happy to share it. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, if you could take that as a question on notice. In terms of time frame, 30 September is 

our time frame, so if you could provide a response before then. Ms Telford, we have received your document, but 

it will still need to go to the committee, just so you are aware. Mr Wright, you mentioned that you used to buy the 

pins from Birubi Art at the time when it was selling pins, which you and ANTaR were able to provide to others. 

Could you describe to the inquiry how it was that you came to find that you could no longer do that? 

Mr Wright:  Firstly, Birubi is liquidated now. I think the new company that replaced it is Gifts Mate. I think 

Jack may have mentioned Gifts Mate before. We weren't told that we couldn't continue to sell them, but we made 
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a decision that it was clearly not appropriate to be, I guess, an agent selling these items for that company, even 

though the company for all intents and purposes had been liquidated and a new company created. There was a 

reputational issue for us to be selling flags and pins from that source. That was our issue, and our board made the 

decision to no longer sell them online. If we had access to a First Nations company, we'd be more than happy to 

sell them again, if they were able to manage that copyright issue. It was reputational risk. We didn't want to be 

seen to be supporting those kind of issues. 

CHAIR:  Thanks for the clarification. We have had evidence in relation to Birubi Art, and we had evidence 

last week in terms of Gifts Mate as well, so I just wanted to clarify that you had not received any correspondence 

at that particular time that said you had to stop what you were doing. 

Mr Wright:  Correct. There was no correspondence. It was our decision. 

CHAIR:  Thank you. I have a couple of questions before we conclude. We heard evidence from the Central 

Land Council and the Aboriginal Peak Organisations NT this morning, who provided a recommendation to us 

around looking at a national flag commission that could perhaps be responsible for the flag. Do you have any 

comments on that? I might go to you, Mr Manning Bancroft. 

Mr Manning Bancroft:  Yes, that could check out, I reckon. 

CHAIR:  Okay. Ms Telford? 

Ms Telford:  Yes, possibly. I think I would have questions about how that could be connected to what Senator 

Thorpe raised, in terms of whether it would be an Aboriginal community-controlled organisation or what that 

would look like. But it does seem like an option that could work. 

CHAIR:  Mr Wright? 

Mr Wright:  Yes, like Amelia, with a few questions around who is on the commission and what they're 

specifically tasked with. But there would be an opportunity, if it was an Aboriginal-led commission, to look at 

things around protocols for use of the flag, directing what is captured in the Flags Act and those other issues. I 

think that's a good option, subject to those questions. 

CHAIR:  Sure. It was proposed as part of evidence today, so I thought I would put it to you, especially as our 

next generation of young Australians is coming through. I think it is important to obviously hear your voices in 

this as well as so many other voices that are out there.  

Other evidence that we've received has also been around the frustration over the flag and this current situation. 

People have said there is consideration of even looking at a new flag or other ways. Do you have any comment on 

that thought or is that a line of discussion that you've heard in your areas, Mr Manning Bancroft and Ms Telford? 

In terms of youth, are they conversations or thoughts that are being discussed out there? We'd be interested to 

know from a youth perspective. 

Ms Telford:  Yes, there's definitely been discussions out there, whether it's face to face or, with COVID, 

online in different Facebook groups. Having a body around this could be a great way to be able to move forward. 

It obviously brings up big questions around how that decision would get made if there was a new flag or what it 

would look like and on the continued use of the existing flag. 

One thing I wanted to add as a further point, upon sending through the agreement, is that there are a few 

sections of that document that are blacked out. I've sent it through to you in the form that we received it. The point 

I want to make is that, when it comes to anything, even if it is the decision around what a new flag would look 

like or on continued use or principles for use of the flag, transparency is obviously a really important value and 

something that our community need to be accountable to one another. This is a document that has been shared, 

but there are things in there that are blacked out. Obviously that raises some questions around what that is. It does 

black out the term of licence of the agreement. It says, 'The agreement shall commence on 10 June 2019 and shall 

continue until,' and then it is blacked out. Things like that raise concerns around transparency, and the community 

feel the need to have that information. 

CHAIR:  So you received the document in that format, did you? 

Ms Telford:  Yes. 

CHAIR:  Mr Manning Bancroft, any thoughts from you and the students that you work with across the country 

in terms of their views and passion about the flag or a new flag? Have there been any discussions that you care to 

share? 

Mr Manning Bancroft:  I think there's constantly renewal as we think about what a nation looks like. There's 

constantly renewal as we grow into the shoes of what we're inheriting and we start to be able to vote and think 

about what that looks like. So I think there's opportunity for creativity. Our suggestion is that there could be a 
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national flag designing campaign which could have some freedom and flavour to it and which could see people 

designing a new Australian flag as well and continuing to explore: What does the Australian story look like? Does 

the Australian flag tell our story as First Nations people with strength? I would say that there is potentially scope 

for evolution. I hope that we might see some of that evolution in the way that our national symbols are portrayed 

in the next 30 years. 

I like creating new stuff. I like imagining new realities. I'd love to be able to see if there was a way that we 

could use this moment to give some space to young people to design and see what comes out. Coming back to 

Lily's design, it was such a stunning, simple design of this heart and two flags coming together. It's from a seven-

year-old and it's the closest I've been able to think of to a really authentic Australian flag that has that depth. So I 

think we should give young people the chance to design with freedom. There's an absolute seriousness and 

heaviness to this work. Flags are what we make them with our behaviour. I think being able to inspire young 

people to continue to want to think about the country they are going to inherit and eventually be running is always 

cool. I'd love to see that as part of the process, thinking about how we could do this as a storytelling experience 

with young people and open up the brief a little bit. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Mr Manning Bancroft. I note we're just about out of time. Mr Wright, are there any last 

words you want to add? 

Mr Wright:  I'm all good. Thank you. 

CHAIR:  No worries. Ms Telford, Mr Wright and Mr Manning Bancroft, thank you so much for your time this 

afternoon. It's been wonderful to hear from you. 

Committee adjourned at 16:15 
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